Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Psychology Theses

Department of Psychology

12-17-2019

GSTP1 Polymorphisms Sex-Specific Association with Cognitive Outcomes in Survivors of Pediatric Medulloblastoma Tumors

Rella J. Kautiainen

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/psych_theses

Recommended Citation

Kautiainen, Rella J., "GSTP1 Polymorphisms Sex-Specific Association with Cognitive Outcomes in Survivors of Pediatric Medulloblastoma Tumors." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2019. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/psych_theses/207

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Psychology at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Psychology Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

GSTP1 POLYMORPHISMS SEX-SPECIFIC ASSOCIATION WITH COGNITIVE OUTCOMES IN SURVIVORS OF PEDIATRIC MEDULLOBLASTOMA TUMORS

by

RELLA J. KAUTIAINEN

Under the Direction of Tricia Z. King, Ph.D.

This study investigated specific single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and their association with attentional deficits and hippocampal volume in survivors of medulloblastoma brain tumors. The sample with neuropsychological assessment includes eighteen medulloblastoma survivors and eighteen age-and-sex-matched healthy controls. We hypothesized that medulloblastoma survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism will have significantly greater deficits in attention span and smaller bilateral hippocampal volumes compared to survivors without a polymorphism and healthy controls. We did not establish the specificity of hippocampal volume loss, and our sample may have more global subcortical morphological alterations. When separating groups by sex, we found large effect sizes between males with a GSTP1 polymorphism and females with a GSTP1 polymorphism across measures of attention span, working memory span and processing speed. Females with a polymorphism performed significantly worse than females without a polymorphism on full-scale intelligence quotient (IQ) and verbal IQ. Sex-specific genetic risk may explain part of the variability in longterm cognitive outcomes for medulloblastoma survivors.

INDEX WORDS: Medulloblastoma survivors, Single-nucleotide polymorphism, GSTP1, Bilateral hippocampus, Long-term outcomes

GSTP1 POLYMORPHISMS SEX-SPECIFIC ASSOCIATION WITH COGNITIVE OUTCOMES IN SURVIVORS OF PEDIATRIC MEDULLOBLASTOMA TUMORS

by

RELLA J. KAUTIAINEN

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Arts

in the College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

2019

Copyright by Rella Jane Kautiainen 2019

GSTP1 POLYMORPHISMS SEX-SPECIFIC ASSOCIATION WITH COGNITIVE OUTCOMES IN SURVIVORS OF PEDIATRIC MEDULLOBLASTOMA TUMORS

by

RELLA J. KAUTIAINEN

Committee Chair: Tricia King

Committee: Jessica Turner

Bhakti Dwivedi

Electronic Version Approved:

Office of Graduate Studies

College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

December 2019

DEDICATION

This proposal is dedicated to my friends and family for their continued support of my graduate school endeavors. I am grateful for their kindness, patience and love as I pursue new opportunities and milestones.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude towards all individuals who have assisted me with guidance on my Master's thesis. First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Tricia King, for her time, dedication and encouraging supervision throughout the entire Master's process. She assisted with my background knowledge and conceptualization, as well as, formulation of a careful plan to answer hypotheses in the merging fields of neuro-oncology, neuropsychological assessment, and neuroimaging. I am grateful to Dr. Jessica Turner for sharing her knowledge expertise on the intersection between genomics and neuroimaging. I am fortunate to have the help and guidance of Dr. Bhakti Dwivedi, who out of her own kindness spent afternoons providing training in genomic variation. I had the incredible opportunity to work with survivors' data across multiple domains and I am indebted to the time and effort of our participants. A special thanks to Holly Aleksonis who assisted in re-processing of the genomic data to provide stronger interrater reliability. Additionally, I thank all members of the King lab, Eric Semmel, Michelle Fox and Sabrina Na, for their kindness, advice and supportive feedback. My gratitude extends beyond current King Lab members to graduated students who contributed with the data acquisition and management. I would also like to thank Dr. Christopher Goode and Dr. Elizabeth Tighe for their help with statistics and R software questions. I would like to thank the staff at the Center for Advanced Brain Imaging (CABI) in their assistance with our imaging data. Finally, I give a warm thank you to my friends and family who stood by my work and provided constant support. This work was supported by an Aflac Cancer & Blood Disorders Center Pediatric Hematology-Oncology Research Grant (TZK & TJM), a Research Scholar Grant, American Cancer Society (#RSGPB-CPPB-114044) awarded to Dr. Tricia King and the GSU Neurogenomics Fellowship awarded to Rella Kautiainen.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS v
LIST OF TABLES ix
LIST OF FIGURES x
1 INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Long-term Neurocognitive Effects of Childhood Brain Tumors
1.2 Core Neurocognitive Deficits in Survivors of Childhood Brain Tumors 4
1.2.1 Attentional Difficulties in Survivors of Childhood Brain Tumors
1.2.2 Working Memory Deficits in Survivors of Childhood Brain Tumors 7
1.2.3 Processing Speed Deficits and Survivors of Childhood Brain Tumors 9
1.3 Hippocampal Volume and the Relationship to Attention
1.3.1 Hippocampal Volume and Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms11
1.4 GST Genes 12
1.4.1 GST Pathway13
1.5 GST Polymorphisms15
1.5.1 GSTP1 Polymorphisms16
1.6 Aims of the Proposed Study18
2 METHODS
2.1 Procedures
2.1.1 Participants and Screening and Recruitment 20

2.1.2	Genetic Parameters and Processing	22
2.1.3	Imaging Parameters and Processing	24
2.1.4	Assessment of Attention Span	25
2.1.5	Assessment of Working Memory	26
2.1.6	Assessment of Processing Speed	27
2.2	Preliminary Analyses and Results	27
2.2.1	SNP Calling	27
2.2.2	Potential Confounds	28
2.2.3	Potential Covariates	29
2.3	Planned Analyses	30
2.3.1	Tests of Data Assumptions	30
2.3.2	Analyses for Specific Aim 1	30
2.3.3	Analyses for Specific Aim 2	31
2.3.4	Analyses for Specific Aim 3	32
2.3.5	Analyses for Supplementary Aim 1	33
2.3.6	Analyses for Supplementary Aim 2	34
3 RES	ULTS	35
3.1	Tests of Data Assumptions	35
3.2	Aim 1	35
3.3	Aim 2	41

3.4	Aim 3	
3.5	Planned Supplemental Analysis 1	44
3.6	Planned Supplemental Analysis 2	45
4 DI	ISCUSSION	50
4.1	Discussion of Aim 1 Results	50
4.2	Discussion of Aim 2 Results	
4.3	Discussion of Aim 3 Results	55
4.4	Discussion of Planned Supplementary Analysis 1	56
4.5	Discussion of Planned Supplementary Analysis 2	56
4.6	Limitations and Strengths	59
4.7	Conclusions and Further Directions	60
REFEI	RENCES	63
APPENDIX		84

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Comparison of demographic information 21
Table 2 Frequency of alleles for all participants sequenced 28
Table 3 Frequency of alleles for sample with neuropsychological data
Table 4 Frequency of alleles for sample with neuropsychological and neuroimaging data 28
Table 5 Aim 1 Results: Descriptive of core cognitive skill performances for each group (z-
score)
Table 6 Impairment of core cognitive skills for both groups of survivors 39
Table 7 Partial correlations between polymorphism status and subcortical volumes
Table 8 Aim 2 Results: Group differences in subcortical volumes controlling for ICV 43
Table 9 Aim 2 Results: Survivor group differences in subcortical volumes controlling for
ICV
Table 10 Copy Number Variant Key 44
Table 11 Copy Number at GSTP1 position on chromosome 11
Table 12 Polymorphism status and WASI full-scale, verbal, and performance IQ 46
Table 13 Polymorphism status and WASI full-scale, verbal, and performance IQ for
females

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Conceptual model for core neurocognitive skills and the impact of diagnosis and
treatment on pediatric brain tumor survivors (King et al., 2019)
Figure 2 The GST Superfamily 1
Figure 3 GST pathways in cancer (Kanehisa & Goto, 2000)1
Figure 4 Boxplot of attention span performance by two groups of survivors
Figure 5 Boxplot of working memory performance by two groups of survivors 4
Figure 6 Boxplot of processing speed performance by two groups of survivors
Figure 7 Sex differences in survivors with and without GSTP1 polymorphisms and
attention span performance4
Figure 8 Sex differences in survivors with and without GSTP1 polymorphisms and
working memory span performance4
Figure 9 Sex differences in survivors with and without GSTP1 polymorphisms and
processing speed performance

1 INTRODUCTION

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are associated with survival rates, recovery rates, and deficits in neurocognitive functioning of brain tumor patients (Ali-Osman et al., 1997; Barahmani et al., 2009; Okcu et al., 2004; Rednam et al., 2013). Glutathione S-transferase (GST) gene polymorphisms slow the production of crucial enzymes which detoxify foreign bodies and chemicals, such as chemotherapy agents. Null variants for GSTM1 and GSTT1 genes as well as the heterozygous or null variant for the GSTP1 gene cause a reduction or absence of enzyme activity (Hayes & Pulford, 1995). While there is a strong body of literature on the relationship of GSTM1, GSTT1, and GSTP1 polymorphisms with rates of survival and toxicity for brain tumor survivors (Ali-Osman et al., 1997; Kilburn et al., 2010; Okcu et al., 2004; Rednam et al., 2013), few researchers have focused on long-term outcomes for those who survive. A crucial next step in the field is to understand how brain tumor survivors with SNPs that inhibit protective enzyme activity against oxidative stress develop into adulthood.

The field has begun to examine the association of GST polymorphisms in brain tumor survivors and cognitive outcomes after treatment. Researchers examined cohorts of pediatric medulloblastoma survivors with GSTM1 and GSTT1 polymorphisms and found correlations with lower full-scale IQ, verbal IQ and performance IQ compared to age-matched peers (Barahmani et al., 2009). In 2011, Brackett and colleagues did not find significant evidence that GST polymorphisms cause significantly lower neurocognitive functioning based on self-report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study Neurocognitive Questionnaire (Brackett et al., 2012). However, self-report measures are distinct from cognitive performance measures and are influenced by insight and personal biases (Paulhus et al., 2003). Recently, Krull and colleagues discovered that GSTT1 and GSTP1 polymorphisms were correlated with reduced attention in

1

long-term survivors of leukemia compared to age-matched peers (Krull et al., 2013). In line with this body of research, we examined the impact of these polymorphisms on attention span performance of medulloblastoma survivors. We examined working memory and processing speed, in survivors and controls, to increase specificity and gain a greater understanding of how underlying core neurocognitive skills may be impacted.

In addition to cognitive outcomes, an important area to investigate is how genomics may influence structural changes in the brain that are associated with core cognitive processes. Structural loss in the bilateral hippocampus has been found in a cohort of pediatric medulloblastoma survivors (Nagel et al., 2004). Additionally, bilateral hippocampal volume loss is evident even after removing variance due to total brain volume or total intracranial volume (ICV) for childhood brain tumor survivors (Jayakar et al., 2015; Riggs et al., 2014). The hippocampus may be a particularly vulnerable structure due to treatment effects for survivors of childhood brain tumors. Jayakar and colleagues observed hippocampal and putamen volumetric differences between survivors of childhood brain tumors, on average 15.4 years past diagnosis, and age-matched controls (Jayakar et al., 2015). Survivors displayed significantly lower hippocampal volumes than healthy controls and this was associated with deficits in auditory attention span (Jayakar et al., 2015). Additionally, chemotherapy has been shown to decrease resting glucose metabolism and a 10-11% glucose metabolism decrease was shown in the bilateral hippocampi of non-small-cell lung cancer survivors (Horky et al., 2014). This study investigates the volume of the bilateral hippocampus in medulloblastoma survivors to determine if volumetric differences are associated with specific genetic polymorphisms.

In this study, we assessed the impact of GST polymorphisms on performance of attention span and hippocampal volume of medulloblastoma survivors. We wish to explore the interaction between genetic factors and long-term treatment outcomes so individuals can be tested for SNP profiles to inform treatment and remediation. In line with precision medicine, a better understanding of underlying genetic factors may allow for the creation of individualized protocols based on risk.

1.1 Long-term Neurocognitive Effects of Childhood Brain Tumors

Childhood cancer is a tremendous public health issue and cancer is the second leading cause of death in children ages 1 to 14 (Siegel et al., 2017). As the childhood cancer survival rate has increased to approximately 83% (Siegel et al., 2017), researchers have shifted focus to the long-term quality of life and cognitive outcomes for survivors (Moore, 2005). Specifically for childhood brain tumor survivors, their development into adulthood can be hindered by adaptive and cognitive deficits (Beebe et al., 2005; Mulhern et al., 1992). Cognitive deficits include lower scores than expected or than peer controls on neuropsychological testing in the domains of IQ, academic achievement, working memory, executive functioning, processing speed and attention (King & Na, 2016; Palmer, 2008; Ris & Noll, 1994).

The most common type of posterior fossa childhood brain tumor is a medulloblastoma, which is a malignant and often high-risk tumor requiring chemotherapy, radiation, and surgical resection for treatment (Bartlett et al., 2013; Rood et al., 2004). Medulloblastoma tumors are located in the posterior fossa of the brain and arise from the cerebellum or fourth ventricle (Bartlett et al., 2013). Posterior fossa tumor survivors have declines in intellectual ability, academic achievement, educational attainment; and they often require utilization of special education resources (Mabbott et al., 2005; Mitby et al., 2003; Mulhern et al., 2005). Survivors of tumors of the central nervous system (CNS), which includes medulloblastoma survivors, were not as likely to complete college as their siblings, unlike all other groups of childhood tumor survivors (Mitby et al., 2003). Since some survivors are not reaching their pre-treatment intellectual or academic capabilities, researchers have focused on the risk factors that contribute to long-term sequalae of treatment. Radiation is a key risk factor and a predictor of deficits in long-term neurocognitive skills; such as, poor processing speed and lower verbal memory in childhood posterior fossa tumor survivors (Kieffer-Renaux et al., 2000; Mabbott et al., 2008). Palmer and colleagues developed a model for risk-based management in pediatric posterior fossa survivors which includes all treatment risk factors and details on the levels of care for survivors (Palmer & Leigh, 2009). In order to capture the diversity in long-term outcomes for pediatric brain tumor survivors, the effects of radiation, chemotherapy, neurosurgery, hydrocephalus, seizures, and hormone deficiency should be measured cumulatively (Micklewright et al., 2008). All risk factors only account for a proportion of the variability in outcome for pediatric survivors, which suggests that additional unknown factors are influencing outcomes. We wish to examine GST polymorphisms as a genetic mechanism explaining variability in cognitive outcomes of medulloblastoma survivors.

1.2 Core Neurocognitive Deficits in Survivors of Childhood Brain Tumors

The foundational skills of attention, working memory and processing speed are considered by the field as three core neurocognitive deficits that contribute to poor long-term outcomes in posterior fossa tumor survivors (Mabbott et al., 2008; Palmer, 2008; Palmer et al., 2013). In a conceptual model developed by Palmer (**Figure 1**), for medulloblastoma survivors specifically, intellectual outcomes and academic achievement are viewed as distal markers which are secondary to attention, working memory, and processing speed (Palmer, 2008). Additionally, these three core neurocognitive markers influence each other, with processing speed exhibiting a cascading impact on attention and working memory (Palmer, 2008). Another model was proposed by Wolfe and colleagues (2012) for posterior fossa tumor survivors, and contrary to the Palmer model, the three core neurocognitive skills had an equal influence on intelligence quotient (IQ) and academic achievement (Wolfe et al., 2012).

King and colleagues generated data-driven models to empirically test these competing models and to understand the relationships between risk factors, core skills and distal intelligence markers (King et al., 2019). From this study, the best-fitting neurodevelopmental model included components of Palmer and Wolfe's models, but also had novel significant contributions between risk factors, core skills and outcomes (King et al., 2019). In line with Palmer's model, processing speed had a robust relationship with intellectual outcomes, and lower processing speed was associated with lower attention span and lower memory. However, a cascade of weaknesses beginning with processing speed was not supported, and in line with Wolfe's model, all three neurocognitive skills had a unique relationship with lower IQ and academic achievement. Therefore, a new empirically-tested model that combined components of the previous models was developed by King and colleagues to elucidate the relationships between individual treatment factors, core neurocognitive skills, IQ and academic achievement (Figure 1). Recent studies have only tested associations between GST polymorphisms and self-report or neuropsychological measures for intelligence and they have not focused on the underlying core cognitive processes that influence these secondary outcomes. In line with the current neurodevelopmental model of long-term outcomes, this study can potentially distinguish which neurocognitive skills are the most vulnerable to genetic risk.



Figure 1 Conceptual model for core neurocognitive skills and the impact of diagnosis and treatment on pediatric brain tumor survivors (King et al., 2019).

1.2.1 Attentional Difficulties in Survivors of Childhood Brain Tumors

Attention, the ability to attend to stimuli presented, has been found to be significantly impaired for medulloblastoma survivors compared to healthy age-matched controls (Reddick et al., 2003; Reeves et al., 2006). Brière and colleagues conducted a study with a heterogenous group of brain tumor survivors and found that auditory attention deficits are significant and delayed in survivors (Briere et al., 2008). Palmer and colleagues utilized estimated trends for medulloblastoma survivors five years after diagnosis and projected that broad attention skills would fall in the low-average to low range, with worse declines for survivors with a higher baseline (Palmer et al., 2013). In 2004, Mulhern and colleagues conducted a review of studies that examined the long-term neurological sequelae of survivors of pediatric brain tumors and found that poor attention in medulloblastoma survivors was associated with young age at diagnosis, higher doses of radiotherapy, and increased time since radiotherapy (Mulhern et al., 2004). This illuminates the finding that attentional deficits may be delayed in survivors and researchers should follow medulloblastoma survivors' longitudinally to understand the full impact of treatment.

Since Mulhern's review, researchers have delved deeper into how underlying cognitive deficits impact survivors. Using neuropsychological testing; such as, Connors Continuous Performance Test (CPT 3) and the California Verbal Learning Test-II (CVLT-II) Trial 1 subtest, researchers found long-term attentional deficits in survivors of childhood medulloblastoma (Maddrey et al., 2005). Along with the CPT 3 and CVLT-II Trial 1, Digit Span Forward is a validated measure for assessing auditory attention span. A group of 100 pediatric brain tumor survivors exhibited significantly worse performance (p = .02) on Digit Span Forward than age-normed population means (McCurdy et al., 2016). Digit Span has been evaluated in a study by Cole and colleagues that found an association between GSTP1 and lower mean Digit Span performance in survivors of leukemia (Cole et al., 2015). However, the study did not separate Digit Span Forward and Backward which is an important distinction between attention and working memory. Therefore, the current study aims to build on previous research and administer the Digit Span Forward subtest and CVLT-II Trial 1 as evaluations of attention span in survivors of pediatric tumors.

1.2.2 Working Memory Deficits in Survivors of Childhood Brain Tumors

Working memory is the ability to keep information in mind while performing complex reasoning, comprehension or a learning task (Baddeley, 1992). While research has established brain tumor survivors experience working memory declines after treatment (Conklin et al., 2012; Dennis et al., 1992; King et al., 2015; Palmer et al., 2013) some studies indicate survivors still score within normative limits on neuropsychological measures (Knight et al., 2014; Mabbott et al., 2008). For example, Mabbott and colleagues studied posterior fossa tumor survivors, mean age of 11.44, who received cranial radiation and found that they scored within normative limits on measures of working memory (Mabbott et al., 2008). One limitation of the study, coinciding with Cole and colleagues' study, is that Digit Span Backward and Forward were not separated in analyses.

Knight and colleagues (2014) studied medulloblastoma survivors five years past diagnosis and found a statistically significant increase in parent-reported working memory concerns on the BRIEF-Working Memory scale. However, on a neurocognitive measure of working memory (Woodcock-Johnson-III, Working Memory Composite) the group remained within normative limits (1 SD) of same-aged peers (Knight et al., 2014). In contrast, a study with heterogenous brain tumor survivors who received radiation found that brain tumor survivors performed significantly worse than non-CNS childhood tumor survivors and sibling controls on the Digit Span Backward task (Conklin et al., 2012). The performance of non-CNS tumor survivors and brain tumor survivors' siblings were not significantly different, indicating specific CNS-tumor or treatment variables were associated with working memory decline (Conklin et al., 2012).

A study conducted by King and colleagues (2015) examined both the behavioral and functional differences in working memory performance between posterior fossa tumor survivors and demographically-matched controls. Survivors performed significantly worse than healthy controls on the Auditory Consonants Trigram (ACT), a working memory task in which participants have to recall three letters, after a 36-second delay, with a distractor task in between. Similarly, on a letter n-back paradigm, survivors demonstrated increased BOLD signals for the frontal and parietal lobe compared to controls during a working memory 2-back task relative to a 0-back task. Compared to healthy controls, survivors are performing significantly worse and recruiting additional cognitive control regions to assist with working memory task demands (King et al., 2015). The field has found some mixed results in terms of the magnitude of survivors' working memory deficits compared to normative means. Nonetheless, working memory is an important construct to measure because there is variability in outcome which could increase the specificity and focus on attention in this study.

1.2.3 Processing Speed Deficits and Survivors of Childhood Brain Tumors

Processing speed refers to the rate at which individuals are capable of processing perceptual or cognitive information (Gontkovsky & Beatty, 2006). The processing speed abilities of posterior fossa survivors are significantly slower than normative controls (Briere et al., 2008; Stargatt et al., 2007). Brière and colleagues conducted a study with a heterogenous group of brain tumor survivors and found that the average processing speed index for survivors was 1.7 standard deviations below normative means (Briere et al., 2008). Spiegler and colleagues (2004) examined thirty-four posterior fossa tumor survivors, thirty with medulloblastoma, across time on intelligence and neurocognitive measures. The survivors' decline in the processing speed index (PIQ) on the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children-III (WISC-III) had a steep decline which leveled off over the course of 16 years (Spiegler et al., 2004). Finally, both attention and processing speed, assessed by the WISC-III and Tests for Attention Performance (TAP) were found to be impaired in 79% of a sample of eighteen medulloblastoma survivors (Ribi et al., 2005). Of the three core neurocognitive skills, researchers have found processing speed to be the most vulnerable to decline in posterior fossa tumor survivors (Mabbott et al., 2008; Palmer et al., 2013). Mabbott and colleagues (2008) discovered that posterior fossa survivors treated with cranial radiation had significantly lower processing speed scores than survivors treated by surgery only, and this deficit was only exacerbated by neurological complications (i.e., hydrocephalus). The researchers concluded that deficits in processing speed may be the first evident neurocognitive difficulties in posterior fossa survivors (Mabbott et al., 2008). Based on

these studies, processing speed is an important primary marker for cognitive decline in long-term survivors and it may influence performance on additional cognitive measures. The relationship between processing speed and attentional deficits will be important to conceptualize for interpretation of results.

1.3 Hippocampal Volume and the Relationship to Attention

Chemoradiation inhibits hippocampal neurogenesis, the generation of new neurons which occurs throughout the lifespan, by dramatically reducing the production of immature neurons in medulloblastoma survivors (Monje et al., 2007). Neuroimaging studies have shown that survivors of childhood brain tumors display abnormal hippocampal development and lower hippocampal volumes than healthy controls (Jayakar et al., 2015; Nagel et al., 2004; Seibert et al., 2017). Researchers have observed attentional deficits associated with the following brain regions: the bilateral hippocampus, right frontal white matter, and right prefrontal white matter (Ailion et al., 2017; Jayakar et al., 2015; Mulhern et al., 2004). Long-term survivors of pediatric brain tumors have reduced volume of normal-appearing white matter and these changes are associated with impaired attentional abilities (Reddick et al., 2003). Nagel and colleagues studied 33 medulloblastoma survivors and found that right and left hippocampal volume loss occurs predominantly in the posterior regions of the hippocampus (Nagel et al., 2004). Jayakar and colleagues discovered an association between lower hippocampal volume and worse performance on the CVLT-II Trial 1 subtest, which measures auditory attention, for long-term childhood brain tumor survivors (Jayakar et al., 2015). There were no additional associations between hippocampal volume of survivors and performance on the short and long-term CVLT-II memory indices after controlling for attention, which suggests a specific relationship between auditory attention and hippocampal volume (Jayakar et al., 2015). The second aim of the current

study is to examine bilateral hippocampal volume differences between survivors with GST polymorphisms and those without. We compared the hippocampal volumes of these groups to age-matched healthy controls to ensure the volumetric differences between controls and our sample of survivors is consistent with the literature.

1.3.1 Hippocampal Volume and Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms

Recently, researchers have joined a collaborative effort to identify genetic contributions to variance in the brain volume of healthy individuals and individuals with various disorders through the Enhancing NeuroImaging Genetics through Meta-Analysis (ENIGMA) consortium (consortium, 2011). ENIGMA has led to the discovery of genes and polymorphisms linked to hippocampal volume differences (consortium, 2011; Hibar et al., 2017). Hibar and colleagues performed a genome-wide association study (GWAS) on 33,536 healthy individuals and discovered six loci within genes HRK, MSRB3, SHH, ASTN2, DPP4, and MAST4 that are associated with hippocampal volume (Hibar et al., 2017). Additionally, the researchers found that SNPs on these genes accounted for 18.76% of the variance in hippocampal volume, and those with decreased hippocampal volume have an increased risk for Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Hibar et al., 2017). While GST SNPs were not implicated in the previous study, researchers measured the expression of GST SNPs in hippocampal tissue and found an association between GST SNP expression and age-of-onset in AD and Parkinson's disease (Li et al., 2003). According to the National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI) GWAS catalog, SNPtrait association studies have not been published on childhood brain tumors or medulloblastoma (MacArthur et al., 2016). Additionally, ENIGMA has formed a Cancer and Chemotherapy Working group to investigate how chemotherapy is related to cognitive impairment; however, their first published study only utilized non-central nervous system cancer survivors (Shiroishi et al., 2018). With the assistance of the ENIGMA consortium, the oncology research field is beginning to conduct GWAS on cancer survivors which will hopefully reveal the influence of genetic polymorphisms on subcortical structures.

1.4 GST Genes

Glutathione S-transferases (GST) protect the human body from dangerous chemicals through enzymes involved in detoxification. GSTs work by binding glutathione (GSH) to exogenous chemicals that have an electrophilic center, such as chemotherapy agents, carcinogens, pesticides and oxidative-damage products, as a mechanism to protect the cells (Hayes & Pulford, 1995; Hollman et al., 2016). GSH conjugation not only removes the harmful chemicals, but also reduces the half-life of hydrophobic xenobiotics (Hayes & Pulford, 1995). Ultimately, the GST family provides several lines of defense for the body against foreign xenobiotics; such as, anticancer drugs. Human GSTs are active towards alkylating agents used in anti-cancer therapy; such as, triethylenemelamine and cyclophosphamide, and they may protect against the cytotoxicity of anti-cancer drugs (Hayes & Pulford, 1995). GSTs have at least twenty isoenzymes, but the three genes of interest, GSTM1, GSTT1 and GSTP1, have established roles in taking care of cells through enzymatic activity or production of the enzymes that detoxify xenobiotics (Hayes & Pulford, 1995). A summary of the potential roles that GST genes play in enzyme activity is illustrated in **Figure 2**. Before diving into the changes caused by a GST polymorphism, it is essential to describe how the GST gene interacts upstream and downstream with other genes to carry out cell protection.



Figure 2 The GST Superfamily. Figure adapted from (Lo & Ali-Osman, 2007)

1.4.1 GST Pathway

GST genes play a vital role in altering protein and enzyme response to carcinogens and agents of oxidative stress, which will alter cancer risk and drug resistance (Lo & Ali-Osman, 2007). Researchers have found that elevated expression of GSTP1 during cancer treatment can alter the balance of regulation of signaling pathways that influence cell proliferation and apoptosis, which grants tumor cells the ability to evade death (Laborde, 2010). The pathway from oxidative stress to evading apoptosis and genomic damage is digitally illustrated through the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG). KEGG is a genomic database that outlines the molecular functions of genes and proteins and their relationship to each other within various pathways (Kanehisa et al., 2016). One of the notable pathways to cancer begins with oxidative stress directly inhibiting the KEAP1 gene which in turn inhibits the NRF2 gene. This inhibition causes oxidative stress to alter HO-1 and GST gene expression. GST genes work indirectly to evade apoptosis. Specifically, the GSTP1 gene works to inhibit carcinogens that

lead to genomic damage. Additionally, this inhibition pathway is altered by whether or not there is a mutation on the GSTP1 gene. These pathways are visualized as Pathway 1 and 2 in **Figure 3** (Kanehisa et al., 2017). The genes functioning upstream from GSTs are the first to respond and change due to oxidative stress. Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) plays a role in maintaining homeostasis and is induced by oxidative stress (Choi & Alam, 1996). The genes that are inhibited by oxidative stress, KEAP1 and NRF2, have established roles with chemotherapy resistance and poor survival rates in adenocarcinoma, gallbladder cancer, and non-small-cell lung cancer (Li et al., 2011; Shibata et al., 2008; Yamadori et al., 2012). Ohta and colleagues have conceptualized the KEAP1 and NRF2 pathway as a "double-edged sword," aiding in growth and development of cancer cells while protecting the body from oxidative stress and carcinogens (Ohta et al., 2008). Similar to KEAP1 and NRF2, GSTP1 can also act as a double-edged sword in protecting the cell from carcinogens and removing cancer treatment agents at the same time (Chatterjee & Gupta, 2018; Kanehisa et al., 2017).



Figure 3 GST pathways in cancer (Kanehisa & Goto, 2000)

Pathway 1 (red outline): Upstream oxidative stress directly inhibits KEAP1 which inhibits NRF2 and directly interacts with HO-1 and GST gene expression. GST genes indirectly work downstream to evade apoptosis

Pathway 2 (blue outline): GSTP1, which can have a mutation or SNP, inhibits carcinogens that lead to genomic damage

1.5 GST Polymorphisms

A single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) is a single base change in a genome sequence that alters the genetic code. SNPs within the GST family have been associated with reduced enzyme activity and reduced detoxification of chemical agents (London et al., 2000). The presence of a GST polymorphism increases chemotherapy-induced cytotoxicity in the tumor location and is associated with significant risk of post therapy complications; such as, developing a secondary cancer in leukemia survivors (Allan et al., 2001). Hollman and colleagues published a 2016

review on the public health risk of GST polymorphisms and their role as a significant biomarker for cancer treatment and prevention (Hollman et al., 2016). Additionally, in a review by Chatterjee and Gupta, evidence is provided for the GST class to be considered as a biomarker, with emphasis on the GSTP1 gene for preventive and therapeutic intervention (Chatterjee & Gupta, 2018). The GSTP1 gene has a unique role in cancer development, inhibition of kinases that signal apoptosis within the cell, and interaction with dietary agents (Chatterjee & Gupta, 2018). GSTP1 has strong associations with caretaking of cells and polymorphisms impact the efficiency of the gene. Given the results of our preliminary analyses (*2.2.1 SNP Calling*) for frequency of GST SNPs in our sample, we chose to focus on GSTP1 polymorphisms and their potential role in long-term cognitive outcomes and hippocampal volume.

1.5.1 GSTP1 Polymorphisms

Although there are inconsistencies in the literature, GSTP1 has been significantly associated with drug resistance, tumor development, decreased survival rates, and changes in cytotoxicity. Oguztunzan and colleagues observed breast cancer tissue and found that significantly stronger GSTP1 expression is found in tumor epithelium than healthy epithelium (Oguztuzun et al., 2011). Significant associations between the level of GSTP1 expression and response to chemotherapy treatment was found in 60 cancer patients with acute nonlymphoblastic leukemia, with a high expression correlating with poor response and survival rates (Tidefelt et al., 1992). Overexpression of GSTP1 is associated with drug resistance, advanced tumor stage and poor survival in a study of 61 patients with primary glioma (Ali-Osman et al., 1997). These studies pertain to gene expression within the tumor tissue, which indicates the role of GSTP1 and treatment, but does not provide evidence of how the host's GSTP1 polymorphisms interact with treatment factors. GSTP1 contains two single nucleotide polymorphisms, at exon 5 and exon 6 which produce Ile105Val (G313A) and Al114Val (C341T) amino acid substitutions (Lecomte et al., 2006). Having a heterozygous or null variant of the GSTP1 gene occurs in about 50% of the population (Sun et al., 2010). A GSTP1 (rs1695 or G313A) polymorphism occurs in 48% for populations of African descent, 33% in populations of European descent, and 17% in populations of East Asian descent (The Genomes Project, 2015). A GSTP1 polymorphism (rs1138272 or C341T) occurs in 1% for individuals of African descent, 7% for individuals of European descent and less than 1% for individuals of East Asian descent (The Genomes Project, 2015). If an individual has either variant allele, then the enzyme activity will be reduced compared to the wild type gene.

Jiao and colleagues found that GSTP1 polymorphisms, which cause lower levels of metabolizing activity toward anticancer agents, provide a significant survival advantage for patients with pancreatic cancer receiving 5-flouracil (Jiao et al., 2007). GSTP1 polymorphism Ile105Val has been shown to significantly increase chemotherapy response in a cohort of 113 patients with non-small cell lung cancer (Sun et al., 2010). The same polymorphism was also associated with better chemotherapy response, due to lower GSTP1 activity and increased chemotherapy-induced cytotoxicity in target tumor tissue, for breast cancer participants and this led to better overall prognosis (Sweeney et al., 2000). However, improved prognosis and long-term survival after therapy increases the prevalence of a second therapy-related cancer for acute myeloid leukemia patients with the GSTP1 polymorphism (Allan et al., 2001). Additionally, in a large study of pediatric cancer patients, including a cohort of medulloblastoma patients, researchers found a large confidence interval for the association between GSTP1 rs1695 and cisplatin ototoxicity (Olgun et al., 2016). The GSTP1 gene has an important role in binding with

c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK) to repress the signaling of cell apoptosis regulated by the kinase (Adler et al., 1999). GSTP1 polymorphisms do not bind and inhibit JNK as effectively as the wild type, non-polymorphic, gene (Chatterjee & Gupta, 2018; Yin et al., 2000). Either polymorphism on the GSTP1 gene is unable to provide the same level of protection as a wild-type variant against cell death. Therefore, a reduction of detoxification enzyme activity, caused by a GSTP1 polymorphism, may allow for chemotherapeutic agents to stay longer in a patient's system, causing ototoxicity, cell apoptosis and potentially long-term consequences for healthy tissue.

While survival is the ultimate goal of cancer treatment, researchers have just begun to investigate the long-term outcomes of individuals with variant alleles for the GSTP1 gene. Survivors with GSTP1 SNPs will have a prolonged cytotoxic effect (Sun et al., 2010) and cytotoxic effects from intrathecal chemotherapy have been correlated with significantly lower Digit Span Forward scores for survivors of ALL (Ashford et al., 2010). This was further highlighted in Cole and colleagues study of the lower mean Digit Span combined scores in leukemia patients who have one GSTP1 polymorphism (Cole et al., 2015). Given this body of evidence, we predict that our sample of medulloblastoma survivors will have long-term structural and functional changes if they have a GSTP1 polymorphism.

1.6 Aims of the Proposed Study

The oncology field has recently pushed for individualized treatment based on genetic risk factors. This study is among the first on how GSTP1 polymorphisms may be associated with core cognitive difficulties and structural volume loss in long-term survivors of medulloblastoma. Studies to date have focused on rates of survival and neurotoxicity for cancer patients with a GST polymorphism. Therefore, while cancer patients with GST SNPs may have difficulty removing foreign toxins efficiently, research is just beginning to focus on the long-term consequences for cognitive skills development. We hypothesize that long-term medulloblastoma survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism have significantly greater deficits in attention and smaller bilateral hippocampal volumes compared to survivors without a polymorphism. We determined whether an individual has a GSTP1 polymorphism by analyzing variants through R and Golden Helix Browser. Additionally, we used FMRIB's Integrated Registration and Segmentation Tool (FIRST) to quantify hippocampal and putamen volume in survivors. We ran independent t-tests to compare the group of medulloblastoma survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism to the group without a polymorphism on structural volume. We assessed group differences on neuropsychological performance, hippocampal and putamen volume, and utilize a healthy age and sex-matched control group for comparison. Finally, we tested if GSTP1 polymorphism status is a moderator between hippocampal volumes and core cognitive difficulties in medulloblastoma survivors.

1.6.1 Specific Aim 1: Medulloblastoma survivors who have GSTP1 polymorphisms will have long-term deficits in attention.

Hypothesis 1: Survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism will perform worse on measures of attention span compared to survivors without a GSTP1 polymorphism.

1.6.2 Specific Aim 2: GSTP1 polymorphisms are associated with reduced bilateral hippocampal volume in medulloblastoma survivors.

Hypothesis 2: Survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism will have lower volume in their bilateral hippocampus than survivors without a GSTP1 polymorphism.

1.6.3 Specific Aim **3**: GSTP1 polymorphisms moderate the relationship between bilateral hippocampal volume and attention.

Hypothesis 3: The relationship between bilateral hippocampal volumes and attentional deficits will be significantly stronger in survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism.

2 METHODS

2.1 Procedures

2.1.1 Participants and Screening and Recruitment

Participants were survivors of medulloblastoma childhood brain tumors or age and sexmatched controls. This study was approved by the local institutional review boards. Survivors were recruited through the following sources a) a previous longitudinal childhood brain tumor study b) an advertisement in an annual newsletter from the Brain Tumor Foundation of Georgia in which survivors were encouraged to call in and inquire about the study c) survivors from a large southeastern hospital system database. Participants were excluded from the study if they did not indicate fluency in English, have had a traumatic brain injury, a pervasive developmental disorder, neurofibromatosis, or have a diagnosis for Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) prior to cancer treatment. Participants were excluded if hearing loss was not corrected by a hearing aid or if they did not complete a full battery of testing due to hearing accommodations. Healthy control participants were recruited by four sources a) an undergraduate psychology participant pool at a large Southeastern University, b) a research imaging center, c) friends and family of survivors, and d) a community flier. Control participants were not significantly different from the survivor group with regard to sex or age.

Ninety-five brain tumor survivors were contacted by mail about participating in MRI testing or asked for follow-up testing with a blood draw. Thirty-nine participants scheduled

appointments over the phone and twenty-two medulloblastoma participants completed the blood draw. Neuroimaging data was not used if the survivors had poor brain registration or segmentation due to movement in the scanner. Eighteen medulloblastoma survivors completed the blood draw and neuropsychological testing. Fifteen medulloblastoma survivors completed the blood draw, MRI scan and neuropsychological testing. Survivors were on average 20.72 (6.26) years at examination and an average of 12.42 (6.96) years post-diagnosis.

Healthy controls were recruited through the undergraduate psychology participant pool at Georgia State University (GSU), the Center for Advanced Brain Imaging (CABI), friends of survivors, and community flyers. Controls were excluded if they met criteria for Major Depressive Disorder, substance abuse, or a psychiatric disorder based on the Structured Clinical Interview of the DSM-IV. Eighteen controls with both neuropsychological testing and an MRI scan were matched with survivors. Controls were on average 20.61 (2.25) years at examination. Participant demographic information is listed in **Table 1**.

Participant Characteristics	Medulloblastoma Survivors	Controls	<u> </u>
N (# of participants with genotyping and neuropsychological assessment)	18	Х	
N (# of participants with genotyping, neuropsychological assessment and neuroimaging)	15	Х	
N (# of participants with neuropsychological assessment and neuroimaging)	18	18	
Sex (% Female)	61.1	61.1	
Ethnicity (n, %)			

Table 1 Comparison of demographic information

Caucasian	14 (77.8)	14 (77.8)
African-American	2 (11.1)	2 (11.1)
Asian	1 (5.6)	1 (5.6)
Hispanic	1 (5.6)	1 (5.6)
Age at Diagnosis (SD)	8.22 (3.89)	Х
Age at testing (SD)	20.72 (6.26)	20.61 (2.25)
Range	12-35	18-25
Mean years education (SD)	11.55 (2.57)	13.67 (1.08)
WASI Full Scale IQ	92.11 (12.60)	109.61 (9.51)
N (# of participants with a GSTP1 Polymorphism)	12	Х

2.1.2 Genetic Parameters and Processing

Whole genome DNA-sequencing was performed on blood samples from twenty-two pediatric medulloblastoma survivors. A certified nurse obtained a blood sample. DNA samples were normalized to 1,000ng of DNA in 50ul of water. Following normalization, samples were acoustically sheared via Covaris LE-220 instrument to a final fragment size of ~350-400bp. The sheared DNA was then transformed into a standard Illumina paired-end sequencing library via standard methods. The sheared DNA was end-repaired and A-tailed using New England Biolabs End-Repair and A-Tailing kits, respectively under the manufacturer's recommended conditions. Following each step, the library was purified via Agencourt AMPure XP beads and eluted in water. Standard Illumina paired-end adaptors were ligated to the A-tailed DNA via New England BioLabs Rapid Ligation kit. Following ligation, the reactions were purified using AMPure XP beads. The purified ligated DNA was amplified via PCR using KAPA Biosystems HIFI PCR kit using 6 cycles of PCR. The primers were standard Illumina primers with a custom 7-base sample barcode in the i7 position to allow sample identification/demultiplexing following sequencing. The final library was quality controlled using size verification via PerkinElmer LabChip GX and real-time PCR using the KAPA SYBR FAST qPCR Master Mix, primers and standards according to the manufacturer's directions. Libraries were normalized to 2.5 nM stocks for use in clustering and sequencing. All sequencing was performed on the Illumina HiSeq X platform by loading a single sample per flowcell lane. Following sequencing all base-calling was performed using standard Illumina software to generate the final FASTQ files for each sample.

The quality of raw reads generated from Illumina sequencing were assessed using FastQC (Andrews, 2012). Reads were filtered and trimmed using the Trimmomatic tool (Bolger et al., 2014). BWA aligner was used to map post-quality filtered reads against the human reference genome (hg19) (Li & Durbin, 2010). The alignment quality was evaluated using SAMtools (Li et al., 2009) and Picard-Tools (http://picard.sourceforge.net). The assembly, or human genome reference build, utilized was GRCh37 or Genome Reference Consortium Human Build 37. A genome reference build is compiled from reference sequences of different individuals to better reflect the genetic variation of subpopulations and ethnicities worldwide. GRCh37 was used to call our variants by searching the genome 30 times to provide a percentage of how likely a single nucleotide polymorphism is present. The mean target coverage was 30X and 95% of the targeted bases have a coverage of 10X or greater. Potential PCR duplicates were removed with Picard-tools (http://picard.sourceforge.net). Somatic variants (SNV and Indel) were called using SAMTools (Li et al., 2009) with Varscan2 (Koboldt et al., 2012) and annotated using ANNOVAR (Wang et al., 2010). Variants with low quality read depth (<6X) were excluded from the analysis. A variant proportion was estimated for each gene variant for each

sample. Here variant proportion is defined as the reads supporting the variants divided by the total number of reads supporting the variant and the reference allele, hence ranging from 0 to 1. A value of 0 means no reads supporting the variant have been identified, a value of 0.5 means half of the reads support variant and half support reference allele, and a value of 1 means all reads are supporting the variant allele.

We used custom scripts, included in the Appendix, within R software to merge the whole genome of participants with gene variants of interest by exact position on the chromosome to obtain the variant information (i.e., variant chromosomal position, genotype and variant allele frequency). Variants were visually conformed using Golden Helix Browser. This is expressed as percent read or the percentage of times the assembly read an alternate allele instead of a reference one. A reference allele means there was no polymorphism, while an alternate allele can be for a heterozygous or mutant (null) genotype. If an individual possesses a GST polymorphism this information was coded as present (1) or absent (0) creating two groups among the survivors. Two graduate students in the King lab independently processed the variant call format using the programming software R. Interrater reliability was 100%.

2.1.3 Imaging Parameters and Processing

The Siemens Trio 3T scanner was used to collect high resolution T1-weighted structural images for each of the participants. T1-weighted structural images were acquired through 176 sagittal slices. A 3D magnetization prepared rapid gradient echo imaging (MPRAGE) sequence was used with the following parameters: acquisition matrix = 256 X 256, repetition time (TR) = 2,250 milliseconds, echo time= 3.98 milliseconds, field of view (FOV) = 256 milliseconds, slice thickness = 1.0 millimeters and flip angle = 9 degrees. Volumetric analysis and segmentation of the hippocampus and putamen was processed by the research team using FMRIB's Integrated
Registration and Segmentation Tool (FIRST). FIRST is used empirically to quantify hippocampal volumes and correlate these volumes with neuropsychological performance (Jayakar et al., 2015; Turner et al., 2012). FIRST accomplishes segmentation by transforming the 3D T1 image into an MNI 152 standard space. A subcortical mask is used to locate the hippocampus, which is composed of the dentate gyrus, ammonic subfields, presubiculum, and subiculum. Hippocampal volumes were recorded in millimeters and entered into SPSS 23.0 (Corp, 2015) as a dependent variable. The right and left putamen volumes were acquired using the same methods and software. The volume of the putamen was utilized as a control region, since attentional deficits have not been reported to be associated with the putamen. Additionally, we acquired total intracranial volume (ICV) using FreeSurfer v.5.3 software. FreeSurfer transforms a T1-image into MNI 305 standard space and normalizes the image to correct for voxel intensities (Fischl, 2012). We checked the ICV segmentation for errors using the Tkmedit tool and none were found. The segmented images were transformed back to native space and the estimates for the ICV include the brain, meninges, and CSF and are measured in mm³. We acquired the total volume of the participants' brains to ensure that lower volumes of the bilateral hippocampus do not only occur in those survivors with significantly lower brain volumes.

2.1.4 Assessment of Attention Span

To measure attention, we compared the Digit Span Forward performance of survivors with GSTP1 polymorphisms to those without and to age and sex-matched controls. For the Digit Span Forward subtest, a participant must repeat a list of digits in the order that the examiner reads them. Digit Span Forward is a test of auditory attention span and performance on this subtest is used as a dependent variable in our study. We utilized the raw scores of participants and covary with age. Digit Span Backward, which measures working memory, should be considered separately from Digit Span Forward and results on these two tests cannot be combined (Rosenthal et al., 2006). All three sections of the Digit Span have internal consistency coefficients, across all ages, of 0.81- 0.83 (Kaufman & Lichtenberger, 2009). The Digit Span has a Standardization sample of 2,200 individuals with ethnicities representing the 2005 US Census, and it has a split-half reliability of 0.93 and test-retest reliability of 0.83 (Kaufman & Lichtenberger, 2009).

As a second measure of auditory attention span, we compared the CVLT-II and CVLT-C Trial 1 performance of survivors with GSTP1 polymorphisms to those without and to age and sex-matched controls. The CVLT-II and CVLT-Children's version are measures of attention span, learning and memory (Delis, 1994; Strauss et al., 2006). The Trial 1 subtest measures auditory attention span and requires participants to immediately recall words from a word list that is read to them. The Standardization for the CVLT-II included 1,087 individuals chosen to represent 1999 US Census data. The split-half reliability of the CVLT-II on the Trials 1-5 subtests is 0.94 and the internal consistency coefficient is 0.82 (Strauss et al., 2006). The Standardization of the CVLT-C included 920 children in twelve age ranges and the test was stratified based on the 1988 U.S. Census data (Strauss et al., 2006). The CVLT-C has good internal consistency and the test-retest reliability for Trial 1 ranges from 0.6 to 0.79 (Strauss et al., 2006). We utilized age-normed z-scores for statistical analyses of the CVLT-II/CVLT-C.

2.1.5 Assessment of Working Memory

For working memory, we utilized the Auditory Consonant Trigrams (ACT) in which participants are asked to remember three consonants (e.g., B-D-T) that are read by the examiner. Next, participants are asked to count backwards from a given number, and after 18 seconds the participants must recall the three consonants. Test-retest reliability for the ACT was .71 (Shura et al., 2015). Performance was converted into z-scores for both the adult and child versions of the tests based on normative data (Paniak et al., 1997; Stuss et al., 1987). Additionally, we used the Digit Span Backward raw scores as a second working memory measure. We covaried the raw scores with age and compare performance across the three groups.

2.1.6 Assessment of Processing Speed

Processing speed was assessed by the Oral Symbol Digit Modality Test (Smith, 1982). This is a timed task in which the examiner hands the participant a piece of paper with a sequence of symbols and underneath each symbol is a box. At the top of the page, there is a key which indicates each symbol corresponds with a number. Participants have 90 seconds to say the number that corresponds with the symbol in each box. The test-retest reliability for the Oral Symbol Digit Modality Test is 0.76 (Smith, 1982). All raw scores were computed into agenormed z-scores.

2.2 Preliminary Analyses and Results

2.2.1 SNP Calling

Analysis on SNPs in our sample was conducted to determine the polymorphism status of survivors based on predetermined genes of interest. These analyses were run by two graduate students independently to ensure interrater reliability. The results are listed on **Tables 2, 3** and **4**. Based on these analyses, the greatest variation in our population was for the GSTP1 gene and SNPS, G313A (rs1695) and C341T (rs1138272). One of our SNPs of interest, G313A, also known as rs1695, was expressed at higher rates than control populations. Based on a meta-analysis of healthy non-cancerous controls, 49.3% of the Caucasian population has an amino acid substitution resulting in rs1695 (Garte et al., 2001). For our Caucasian survivors, 71.4% had

a rs1695 SNP. For our African American participants, 50% had the rs1695 SNP, our Asian participant had the rs1695 SNP and our Hispanic participant did not have the rs1695 SNP. Since a higher chance of survival is associated with rs1695 SNPs for multiple cancer types (Jiao et al., 2007; Sun et al., 2010; Sweeney et al., 2000), investigators have called for larger scale studies of the rs1695 polymorphism and pediatric cancer survivors (Olgun et al., 2016).

Gene Symbol	Genomic Variation	RSID	Wild Type	%	Heterozygous	%	Homozygous	%
GSTP1	G313A	1695	8	36%	13	59%	1	5%
GSTP1	C341T	1138272	17	77%	5	23%	0	0%
GSTM1	GSTM1 0	2071487	22	100%	0	0%	0	0%
GSTT1	GSTT1 0	2266637	21	95%	1	5%	0	0%

Table 2 Frequency of alleles for all participants sequenced

Table 3 Frequency of alleles for sample with neuropsychological data

Genomic Variation	RSID	Wild Type	%	Homozygous + Heterozygous	%
G313A	1695	6	33%	12	67%
C341T	1138272	14	78%	4	22%

Table 4 Frequency of alleles for sample with neuropsychological and neuroimaging data

Genomic Variation	RSID	Wild Type	%	Homozygous + Heterozygous	%
G313A	1695	5	33%	10	67%
C341T	1138272	12	80%	3	20%

2.2.2 Potential Confounds

We chose to compare sex, age at testing, and ethnicity across survivors and controls to increase specificity in the present study. Independent samples t-test (p<.05) were used to compare groups on continuous variables (i.e., age at examination). Age at examination was not

significantly different between groups (p=.944). Next, chi-squared tests of independence (p<.05) were used to compare groups on categorical variables (i.e., sex and ethnicity). Controls and survivors had the same breakdown between males (n=7) and females (n=11); and therefore, there was not a significant association between sex and group. Also, controls and survivors had the same breakdown for ethnicities: Caucasian (n=14), African American (n=2), Hispanic (n=1), and Asian (n=1). When we split the groups into Caucasian (n=14) and Other (n=4), there was not a significant association between ethnicity and group (χ^2 =.64, p=.42). Overall, we will not be utilizing any demographic variables as covariates in our study, with the exception of controlling for age on Digit Span raw scores.

2.2.3 Potential Covariates

A covariate for our study is ICV because the diversity in brain size for each individual will impact the average hippocampal and putamen volume for the group. Since individuals under eighteen are included in this study, the disparity in ICV will be larger between minors and the rest of the adult cohort. We conducted bivariate correlations between ICV, GSTP1 polymorphism status, bilateral hippocampal volume, and bilateral putamen volume. ICV was significantly related to the volume of the bilateral hippocampus (r=.521, p<.05). Therefore, ICV will be utilized as a covariate for neuroimaging analyses. Since ICV was not significantly related to polymorphism status, the IV, it is not a confounding variable.

Given evidence that covarying for IQ overcorrects and leads to counterintuitive neurocognitive findings in neurodevelopmental disorders, we decided not to utilize IQ as a potential covariate for our sample (Dennis et al., 2009). Additionally, the effects of chemoradiation likely impact our outcomes of interest. While our sample is homogenous in cerebellar tumor location, our survivors do not receive identical treatment protocols and will be influenced by the overall effects of aggressive chemoradiation treatment for medulloblastoma. Therefore, we will not explore the direct impact of genetic influences on chemotherapy because diverse protocols cannot be separated into groups with adequate power. Previous studies on the relationship between genetic polymorphisms and neurocognitive outcomes for brain tumor survivors have not separated the effects of chemotherapy and radiation for long-term outcomes (Barahmani et al., 2009; Brackett et al., 2012).

2.3 Planned Analyses

2.3.1 Tests of Data Assumptions

We conducted tests of normality, homogeneity of variance, heterodescascitiy, nonindependence of residuals, and normality of residuals on the survivor sample to determine the influence that polymorphism status had on dependent variables.

2.3.2 Analyses for Specific Aim 1

Hypothesis 1: Survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism will perform worse on measures of attention span compared to survivors without a GSTP1 polymorphism.

Using IBM SPSS 23.0, the group of medulloblastoma survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism were compared to medulloblastoma survivors with no polymorphism and control participants on measures of attention span. The dependent variables, scores on the Digit Span and scores on the CVLT-II/CVLT-C Trial 1, are continuous. We ran Pearson's bivariate correlations to see if polymorphism status is associated with Digit Span Forward and CVLT-II/CVLT-C Trial 1 performance. The raw scores on the Digit Span Forward are covaried with age. We ran a one-way between-groups analysis of variance (ANOVA) to determine differences between the two groups of survivors and healthy controls on auditory attention performance. We ran independent t-tests to compare the two survivor groups on attentional, working memory and processing speed performance. One individual was removed from working memory analyses because they did not complete the ACT during their neuropsychological testing session. Since the groups with a polymorphism, without a polymorphism and controls are uneven we utilized Levene's Test to determine if equal variances can be assumed.

If an individual's score on the CVLT-II/CVLT-C Trial 1 is greater than 1.5 standard deviations below the age-normed performance mean, then the individual meets criteria for impairment. We quantified the percentage of survivors that met impairment criteria and ran a Pearson chi-squared test, or Fisher's exact test if the group is less than 5 survivors, to determine if the difference between groups is significant. It was hypothesized that the group of survivors with a polymorphism will have significantly lower mean scores than any other group.

2.3.3 Analyses for Specific Aim 2

Hypothesis 2: Survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism will have lower volume in their bilateral hippocampus than survivors without a GSTP1 polymorphism.

Using IBM SPSS 23.0, the group of medulloblastoma survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism were compared to medulloblastoma survivors without a GSTP1 polymorphism and healthy controls to determine whether there are significant differences in their bilateral hippocampal or putamen volume. The dependent variable, volumes of the bilateral hippocampus and putamen, are continuous. First, we tested if there are significant group differences between the two groups of survivors and healthy controls in hippocampal and putamen volume using a one-way between-groups analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with ICV as the covariate. Due to unequal group sizes we utilized Levene's Test to determine if equal variances can be assumed. Next, we focused on differences between the two groups of survivors, with and without a

polymorphism, and ran correlations to see if polymorphism status is associated with hippocampal or putamen volume. Finally, we ran an ANCOVA using polymorphism status as the independent variable and hippocampal and putamen volumes as dependent variables, with ICV as a covariate. We predicted that survivors with a polymorphism will have lower hippocampal volumes than survivors without a polymorphism and healthy controls. We utilized bilateral putamen volume as a control region which will increase specificity of our study.

2.3.4 Analyses for Specific Aim 3

Hypothesis 3: The relationship between bilateral hippocampal volumes and attentional deficits will be significantly stronger in survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism

The next analysis explored whether the relationship between bilateral hippocampus volume and attentional deficits is moderated by GSTP1 polymorphisms. Moderation analysis is used when researchers are interested in the magnitude of a moderating variable's influence on the independent variables' relationship with the outcome variable (Hayes, 2012). We wanted to examine whether having a polymorphism strengthens the relationship between hippocampal volume and attentional outcomes. Previous research has found an association between lower bilateral hippocampal volume and attentional deficits (Jayakar et al., 2015). However, research has not yet examined if the nature of this relationship partially depends on GSTP1 polymorphism status. First, we ran a linear regression to test whether hippocampal volume predicts attentional deficits in our sample of medulloblastoma survivors. We tested for an indirect effect of hippocampal volume on attentional deficits moderated by GSTP1 polymorphism status. We used the PROCESS macro for SPSS (Hayes, 2012) to create a moderation model. PROCESS calculates indirect effects by constructing confidence intervals based on resampling of the data with a replacement bootstrapping method. We resampled the data 10,000 times to approximate

the sampling distribution, which resolves the issue of a skewed distribution in smaller samples. PROCESS allows for the inclusion of covariates within the moderation model and ICV was included as a predictor variable along with bilateral hippocampal volume.

2.3.5 Analyses for Supplementary Aim 1

Losses and gains of segments of genomic DNA contribute to the expression of oncogenes. The mapping of these losses and gains, also called copy number variations (CNVs) allows for the detection of critical genes (Pinkel et al., 1998). While the primary focus of our study has been on SNPs, analyzing CNVs allows for a greater understanding of the genetic abnormalities in our sample. CNVs in high-grade neuroblastoma tumors were associated with clinical outcomes and may be related to the aggressiveness of the tumor (Carén et al., 2010). CNVs can be used to differentiate the four major subgroups of medulloblastoma, each subgroup with distinct genetic abnormalities and clinical outcome (Hovestadt et al., 2013; Northcott et al., 2011) Researchers discovered that copy gains on Chromosome 6q and 17q in pediatric medulloblastoma survivors leads to poor prognosis (Pfister et al., 2009). We choose to map the CNVs in our sample to locate genetic abnormalities, and to ensure there are no genomic losses or gains at the locations of GSTP1 polymorphisms. To map CNVs, a control (normal) sample is generally needed; however, the Control-FREEC tool (Boeva et al., 2011) does not necessitate a matched normal sample for analysis. Control-FREEC allows for automatic calculation of copy number variants and predicts regions of losses and gains of genomic DNA (Boeva et al., 2011). Control-FREEC operates by calculating and segmenting copy number profiles, then calculating and segmenting smoothed B-allele frequency profiles, and finally predicting final genotype status (i.e., copy number) (Boeva et al., 2011). Genotype status is predicted for each segment independently by choosing the allelic content that corresponds to the maximal log-likelihood (Boeva et al., 2011).

A normalized copy number profile can be visualized utilizing Linux commands and the Control-FREEC downloadable files. A value of two on the normalized copy number output indicates that there is no change, and this corresponds with the color green on the copy number visualizations (Boeva et al., 2011). On the visualizations, red represents a copy number gain (>2), and blue represents a copy number loss (<2). Visualizations for each participant were provided to interpret the copy number variants in our sample.

2.3.6 Analyses for Supplementary Aim 2

A previous study of GST polymorphisms found a relationship between one null genotype on GSTM1 and GSTT1 and lower full-scale IQ, verbal IQ, and performance IQ in survivors of medulloblastoma (Barahmani et al., 2009). Although we did not have enough representation of GSTT1 and GSTM1 polymorphisms in our sample, we chose to replicate Barahmani's findings with GSTP1. Full-scale IQ is a distal marker associated with genetic risk, demographic variables (i.e., sex), and treatment variables (i.e., radiation, chemotherapy, hydrocephalus). Therefore, we tested for a main effect of sex by splitting our sample into four groups: males with GSTP1 polymorphisms (n=6), males without GSTP1 polymorphisms (n=1), females with GSTP1 polymorphisms (n=6), and females without GSTP1 polymorphisms (n=5). We ran independent t-tests to determine if group differences exist for the survivor sample, and male and female groups on the Weschler Abbreviated Scale Intelligence (WASI) full-scale IQ, verbal IQ, and performance IQ scales. The independent t-tests were uncorrected due to limited power to detect an effect.

3 RESULTS

3.1 Tests of Data Assumptions

Tests of normality, linearity, heteroscedasticity, and independence were not violated, and the sample was normally distributed. Outlier testing was conducted to determine the influence that polymorphism status has on dependent variables. One survivor violated outlier testing on the CVLT-II/CVLT-C Trial 1 subtest, based on a studentized residual of higher than 2.5. The individual had acceptable scores on the other attention, working memory and processing speed measures and excluding them reduces the power of our findings. Their score was winsorized to reflect the closest acceptable score (z-score change from 2 to 1). A different survivor violated outlier testing on the O-SDMT, based on a studentized residual lower than -2.5. The individual had acceptable scores on attention and working memory. Their score was also winsorized to reflect the next lowest acceptable score (z-score change from -4.99 to -4.47). No individuals in the survivor sample violated outlier testing for the influence of polymorphisms status on hippocampal or putamen volume. For controls, tests of normality were not violated for attention and processing speed. The control group had two outliers for working memory performance, and these scores were winsorized to the next acceptable z-score (z=-.84).

3.2 Aim 1

Pearson's bivariate correlations were run to see if polymorphism status was associated with Digit Span Forward and CVLT-II/CVLT-C Trial 1 performance. GSTP1 status was not associated with scores on the CVLT-II/CVLT-C Trial 1 (r=.061, p=.81). The raw scores on the Digit Span Forward were covaried with age, and the associations were not significant (r=-.108, p=.831). A one-way between-groups analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to determine differences between survivors with a polymorphism, survivors without a polymorphism, and

healthy controls on auditory attention performance. Results indicated that there was a significant difference in group mean performance (F(2,33)=5.963, p = 0.006). However, this significant difference only existed between healthy controls compared to all survivors. On average, survivors scored lower than controls. We ran an ANOVA with working memory performance (ACT/CCT), and a significant difference was found between groups (p < .001). Finally, we also ran an ANOVA with processing speed performance (O-SDMT), and a significant difference was found between groups (p = .001). Descriptive statistics including the mean performance and standard deviation are listed for each group in Table 5.

We also conducted the Games-Howell (HSD) post hoc test to further probe any significant omnibus effects. This post-hoc analysis was chosen because population variances were not always equal in our sample, and Games-Howell can be utilized when sample sizes are small and unequal (Field, 2013). A significant difference was found between the survivors without polymorphism and controls (p=.003). A significant difference was also found between the survivors with a polymorphism and controls (p=.013). However, there was not a significant difference in mean performance on the CVLT/CVLT-C between survivors with a polymorphism and those without (p=.945).

We ran independent t-tests to compare the two survivor groups, with a GSTP1 polymorphism and without a GSTP1 polymorphism, on attention span, working memory and processing speed performance. Since the groups with a polymorphism and without a polymorphism are uneven, we utilized Levene's Test to determine if equal variances can be assumed. For the attention span, on the CVLT-II/CVLT-C, equal variances can be assumed (F(1,15)=4.267, p = 0.055), although the difference in standard deviations is approaching significance (p=.055). This resulted in the standard deviation for the survivors with a

polymorphism being almost three times the size of the standard deviation for survivors without a polymorphism. The variability in attention span performance is represented in a boxplot in Figure 4. There was not a statistically significant difference between the group with and without a polymorphism (p =.690). Since the sample size was small, we chose to use Hedges g over Cohen's d as a measure of effect size (Goulden, 2006). The effect was small for the difference between groups on attention span performance (g = 0.21). Additionally, a one-way ANOVA was run to determine if polymorphism status predicted a secondary auditory attention span measure, Digit Span Forward, controlling for age at examination. After controlling for age, GSTP1 status did not significantly predict auditory attention span performance (p=.831).

For working memory, measured by the ACT/CCT, equal variances cannot be assumed (F(1,15)=14.877, p = 0.002). The variability in performance between both groups is represented as a boxplot in Figure 5. The difference in mean performance on working memory was not statistically significant (p =.095). Since our sample size is small, and the mean differences were approaching significance, we measured the magnitude of the effect using Hedge's *g*. The effect was medium to large (*g* = .702). In contrast to our hypothesis, the mean performance on the ACT/CCT for the survivors with a polymorphism was a z-score of -.8467, and the mean performance for the survivors without a polymorphism was worse, with a z-score of -1.562. As a secondary measure of working memory, a one-way ANOVA was run to determine if polymorphism status predicted Digit Span Backward performance, controlling for age at examination. After controlling for age, GSTP1 status did not significantly predict working memory span performance (p=.808).

For processing speed, measured by the Oral SDMT, equal variances can be assumed (F(1,15)=1.742, p=0.221). The variability in performance between both groups is represented

as a boxplot in Figure 6. There was not a statistically significant difference between the survivors with a polymorphism and the survivors without a polymorphism (p = .511). The effect was small to medium for the difference between groups on processing speed performance (g = .336).

If an individual's score on attention, working memory or processing speed measures is greater than 1.5 standard deviations below the age-normed performance mean (z > -1.5), then the individual meets criteria for impairment. We assessed proportion of impairment in our sample by running Chi-Square analyses. The difference between the proportion of impairment in the survivors with a polymorphism compared to the survivors without a polymorphism was not significant (p = .109). The group without GSTP1 polymorphisms had no individuals that met impairment criteria, out of six total individuals. The group with GSTP1 polymorphisms had four individuals that met criteria for impairment out of twelve total survivors. We also tested the level of impairment for working memory and processing speed. For working memory, the difference in number of participants in the impaired level for groups was not statistically significant (p= .149). Four individuals without a polymorphism met impairment on the ACT/CCT compared to five individuals with a polymorphism. Of note, the group without a polymorphism fell in the impaired range on average (mean=-1.56). In contrast, for processing speed, the group with a polymorphism were overall impaired with a mean z-score of -1.87. The difference between impairment levels was not statistically significant (p=.317). Four individuals without a polymorphism met impairment on the O-SDMT compared to five individuals with a polymorphism. Impairment of core cognitive skills for both groups of survivors is described in Table 6.

	Polymorphism	No Polymorphism (<i>n</i> =	Control (<i>n</i> =18)	F	р
	(<i>n</i> =12)	6, <i>n</i> =5 <i>for ACT/CCT</i>)			
Attention Span	-1.167 (.807)	-1.25(.274)	.028(1.32)	5.963	.006**
(CVLT/CVLT-C)					
Working Memory*	8467 (1.15)	-1.56(.502)	.222(.676)	6.182	.0001**
(ACT/CCT)					
Processing Speed	-1.873 (1.65)	-1.3667(1.12)	.114(.778)	8.247	.001**
(O-SDMT)					

Table 5 Aim 1 Results: Descriptive of core cognitive skill performances for each group (z-score)

Note. Percent impaired defined as \geq 1.5 standard deviation below the mean based on normative scores *n=5 for No Polymorphism group on ACT/CCT **Significant at 0.01 level

	Polymorphism (<i>n</i> = 12) % impaired	No Polymorphism (n= 6) % impaired	Hedge's	χ ² /Fisher's exact
Attention Span	33.3%	0%	.12	$\chi^2(1) = .109$
(CVLT/CVLT- C)				
Working Memory*	41.67%	80%	.702	$\chi^{2}(1) = .149$
(ACT/CCT)				
Processing Speed	41.67%	66.67%	.336	$\chi^2(1) = .317$
(O-SDMT)				

Table 6 Impairment of core cognitive skills for both groups of survivors

Note. Percent impaired defined as \geq 1.5 standard deviation below the mean based on normative scores *n=5 for No Polymorphism group on ACT/CCT



Figure 4 Boxplot of attention span performance by two groups of survivors Note: Center line represents the median of the data



Figure 5 Boxplot of working memory performance by two groups of survivors Note: Center line represents the median of the data



Figure 6 Boxplot of processing speed performance by two groups of survivors Note: Center line represents the median of the data

3.3 Aim 2

We ran partial correlations to determine if polymorphism status was related to hippocampal or putamen volume while controlling for intracranial volume. There were no significant correlations between polymorphism status and the bilateral hippocampus, left hippocampus, right hippocampus, bilateral putamen, left putamen, or right putamen. Table 7 displays the correlation coefficients and significance values.

Structure	r	р	
Right Hippocampus	165	.574	
Left Hippocampus	009	.976	
Bilateral Hippocampus	094	.75	
Left Putamen	191	.512	

Table 7 Partial correlations between polymorphism status and subcortical volumes

Right Putamen	356	.212
Bilateral Putamen	285	.323

Note: All partial correlations control for ICV

We ran an ANCOVA to test for significant group differences between the two groups of survivors and healthy controls in hippocampal and putamen volume with ICV as the covariate. Equal variances can be assumed (F(2,26) = 1.214, p = .313). There is a significant group difference between the controls, and both survivor groups on volume of the bilateral hippocampus (F(2,26)= 6.45, p = .005). The effect of these differences is large (η^2 = .332, R^2 =.396). There is a significant group difference between the controls, and both survivor groups on volume of the bilateral putamen (F(2,26) = 9.611, p = .001). Equal variances can also be assumed (F(2,26)= .455, p = .639). The effect of these differences is large (η^2 = .425, R²=.435). We ran another ANCOVA to test for significant group differences between both groups of survivors, excluding controls, on hippocampal and putamen volume with ICV as a covariate. This allows us to determine if GSTP1 polymorphism status is related to hippocampal and putamen volumes. Equal variances can be assumed (F(1,14)=1.608, p=.227). There was no significant group difference between survivor groups on volume of the bilateral hippocampus (F(1,14)=.106, p=.75). The effect of these differences is small (g=.2, R²=.158). There was no significant group difference between survivor groups on volume of the bilateral putamen (F(1,14) = 1.06, p = .323). Equal variances can also be assumed (F(1,14) = .809, p = .385), and the effect of these differences is small (g=.17, $R^2=.134$). The group difference results, including descriptive statistics, are represented in Tables 8 and 9.

		ICV				
	Polymorphism	No	Control	Adjusted	р	η^2
	(<i>n</i> =10)	Polymorphism	(<i>n</i> =15)	\mathbb{R}^2		
		(<i>n</i> = 5)				
Bilateral Hippocampal Volume	7031.9(1086.9)	6838.8(373)	7949.5(752.9)	.396	.005	.332
Bilateral Putamen Volume	9258.3(1078.4)	9427.6(587.5)	10642.7(887.6)	.435	.001	.425

 Table 8 Aim 2 Results: Group differences in subcortical volumes controlling for ICV

Note: η^2 = Eta squared, hippocampal and putamen volumes were recorded in millimeters (mm)

controlling for ICV					
	Polymorphism	No Polymorphism	Adjusted	р	Hedge's
	(<i>n</i> =10)	(<i>n</i> = 5)	R ²		g
Bilateral Hippocampal Volume	7031.9(1086.88)	6838.8(373)	.158	.75	.2
Bilateral Putamen Volume	9258.3 (1078.4)	9427.6(587.5)	.134	.323	.17

 Table 9 Aim 2 Results: Survivor group differences in subcortical volumes controlling for ICV

Note: hippocampal and putamen volumes were recorded in millimeters (mm)

3.4 Aim 3

We tested for an indirect effect of hippocampal volume on attentional deficits moderated by GSTP1 polymorphism status. First, we ran a regression analysis to see if there was a direct effect of hippocampal volume on attention span performance, controlling for ICV. The direct effect did not exist (t=.257, p=.801). Although it is unlikely for an interaction to be present if there are no main effects, a crossover interaction is possible (Wang et al., 2010). Therefore, we ran our moderation using the PROCESS macro for SPSS (Hayes, 2012). ICV was included in this model as a predictor variable along with bilateral hippocampal volume. The moderation model was not

significant, and our results indicated that a crossover interaction does not exist in our sample. The non-significant result was determined by the bootstrap confidence interval crossing over zero [LLCI-ULCI: .000-.0005].

3.5 Planned Supplemental Analysis 1

We ran Control-FREEC on aligned files of each participant's genomic data. Using a configuration file that was generated based on the parameters for our sample, Control-FREEC generates normalized copy number profiles (Boeva et al., 2011). Using custom Linux commands and R scripts, we visualized the normalized copy number profile for each chromosome of each participant. Table 10 displays a key for interpreting the copy number visualizations. Using the Integrative Genomic Viewer (IGV) tool (Robinson et al., 2011), we were able to magnify the visualizations of the normalized copy number profiles within our regions of interest. We imported the genomes of our twelve participants with GSTP1 polymorphisms into the IGV tool. We can then specify our region of interest (Chromosome 11: Position 67352689- 67353579) and the IGV browser provides the copy number estimated value at this position. The copy number value for each participant (labeled 1-12) is represented in Table 11. No significant gains or losses were seen at the site of GSTP1 polymorphisms in our survivors (M=2.036, Range =1.998-2.123).

Table 10 Copy Number Variant K	ey
--------------------------------	----

Color	Genomic	Copy Number
	Alteration	Segment Mean
Red	Gain	>2.0
Blue	Loss	< 2.0
Green	Neutral	Approx. 2.0

Table 11 Copy Number at GSTP1 position on chromosome 11

Participant Genomic Alteration Copy Number	er
--	----

Survivor 1	Neutral	2.079
Survivor 2	Neutral	2.012
Survivor 3	Neutral	2.073
Survivor 4	Neutral	1.998
Survivor 5	Neutral	2.051
Survivor 6	Neutral	2.023
Survivor 7	Neutral	2.004
Survivor 8	Neutral	1.981
Survivor 9	Neutral	2.051
Survivor 10	Neutral	2.018
Survivor 11	Neutral	2.019
Survivor 12	Neutral	2.123

3.6 Planned Supplemental Analysis 2

There was not a significant group difference for survivors with a polymorphism and survivors without a polymorphism for WASI full-scale IQ (p=.194). While we did not replicate Barahmani's overall findings with our full sample, we did find a sex-specific main effect of polymorphism status on full-scale IQ. Females with a polymorphism performed worse on the WASI full-scale IQ than females without a polymorphism (p=.048). The mean performance of females without a polymorphism (n=5) was a z-score of -.013 and the mean performance of females with a polymorphism (n=6) was a z-score of -.013. Equal variances can be assumed, and the effect size was large, Hedge's g = 1.2652, as the difference between the two means is larger than one standard deviation. Additionally, there was a significant group difference for survivors with a polymorphism and without a polymorphism for WASI verbal IQ (p =.026). The effect size was large, Hedge's g = 1.22, and survivors with a polymorphism performed worse on average than survivors without a polymorphism on verbal intelligence. Furthermore, when probing for a sex effect, female survivors with a polymorphism performed significantly worse than female

survivors without a polymorphism (p=.005). The effect size was very large, Hedge's g = 2.24. Finally, for performance IQ, there was not a significant difference between groups based on polymorphism status (p=.738) or based on female sex and polymorphism status (p =.551). However, on average, survivors with a polymorphism (M= -.64) performed worse than survivors without a polymorphism (M= -.47), and females with a polymorphism (M= -.74) performed worse than females without a polymorphism (M= -.42). These results are displayed in Tables 12 and 13.

Table 12 Polymorphism status and WASI full-scale, verbal, and performance IQ

	Polymorphism	No Polymorphism	t	р
	(<i>n</i> =12)	(n=6)		
WASI full-scale IQ	-711(.916)	156(.552)	1.355.	.194
WASI verbal IQ	643(.779)	.247(.599)	2.45	.026*
WASI performance IQ	645(1.1)	477(.684)	.34	.738

*Significant at 0.05 level

Table 13 Polymorphism status and WASI full-scale, verbal, and performance IQ for females

	Females with Polymorphism	Females without Polymorphism	t	р
	(<i>n</i> =6)	(n=6)		
WASI full-scale IQ	933(.782)	013(.479)	2.29	.048*

WASI verbal IQ	92(.765)	.456(.346)	3.95	.005**
WASI performance IQ	-745(.92)	426(.753)	.620	.551

**Significant at 0.01 level *Significant at 0.05 level

Based on these results, we decided to conduct new independent t-tests of neurocognitive performances using the two groups of females and excluding the males (n=7). For attention span, CVLT-II/CVLT-C performance, equal variances cannot be assumed and on average females with a polymorphism (M= -1.5) performed worse than females without a polymorphism (M = -1.3). The difference between groups was not significant (p=.575). As an alternate measure of attention span, Digit Span Forward raw scores were covaried with age at examination. We conducted a one-way ANCOVA and found that GSTP1 polymorphism status was not significantly related to attention span (p=.315). However, similar to performances on the CVLT-II/CVLT-C, girls with a polymorphism had lower mean and median scores than girls without a polymorphism.

Equal variances can be assumed for working memory, and females without a polymorphism (n=4) performed slightly worse on average (M= -1.56) than females with a polymorphism (n=6; M= -1.42). The difference between groups is not significant (p=.776). For Digit Span Backward, the opposite was found with lower average scores for girls with a polymorphism (M =4.33) compared to girls without a polymorphism (M =6.2). When covarying for age, the relationship between GSTP1 polymorphism status and Digit Span Backward performance is approaching significance (p=.094). One more individual without a polymorphism was included in Digit Span Backward analyses compared to ACT/CCT analyses. For processing speed, females with a polymorphism performed on average worse than those without a

polymorphism, and this result was trending toward significance (p=.082). Equal variances can be assumed, and the effect size was large, Hedge's g = 1.185.

We visualized the differences in sex and neurocognitive performance for males without a polymorphism, males with a polymorphism, females without a polymorphism, and females with a polymorphism using boxplots. Differences in attention span, CVLT-C/CVLT-II performance, for each group can be viewed in Figure 11. The boxplot displays a trend of females performing worse than males on attention span, and females with polymorphisms having a lower median performance than the other groups and higher variability. The difference between males with a GSTP1 polymorphism and females with a GSTP1 polymorphisms (p=.162). The effect size of the differences in performance between males and females with GSTP1 polymorphisms was large, Hedge's g = .877.

The differences in working memory span, ACT/CCT performance, can be viewed in Figure 12. Females performed worse than males with a large effect size, Hedge's g = 1.12. The difference in working memory span performance for males with a GSTP1 polymorphism and females with a GSTP1 polymorphism approached significance (p=.082). Finally, sex differences in processing speed performance can be viewed in Figure 13. Processing speed displayed a similar trend as attention span, with females having the lowest median and larger variability than the other groups. The difference in performance between males with a GSTP1 polymorphism and females with a GSTP1 polymorphism was significant (p=.024), and the effect size was very large, Hedge's g = 1.53.



Figure 7 Sex differences in survivors with and without GSTP1 polymorphisms and attention span performance



Figure 8 Sex differences in survivors with and without GSTP1 polymorphisms and working memory span performance



Figure 9 Sex differences in survivors with and without GSTP1 polymorphisms and processing speed performance

4 DISCUSSION

4.1 Discussion of Aim 1 Results

The purpose of this aim was to examine possible associations of GSTP1 polymorphisms and attention span performance. We also tested the relationship between GSTP1 polymorphism status and working memory and processing speed performance to establish specificity of our findings. We confirmed that survivors had significantly worse performance on attention span, working memory, and processing speed than controls which is consistent with previous analyses on the data of long-term outcomes for pediatric brain tumor survivors (Jayakar et al., 2015; King et al., 2019; King et al., 2015).

Based on our correlations, GSTP1 polymorphism status was not associated with both measures of auditory attention. We obtained a small effect for differences between survivor groups on attention span performance. Our data did not support our hypothesis that survivors with a polymorphism would perform worse on measures of auditory attention than survivors without a polymorphism. Survivors without a polymorphism had a slightly lower mean attention span z-score performance (M=-1.25) than survivors with a polymorphism (M=-1.167). The standard deviation for the survivors with a polymorphism was almost three times the size of the standard deviation for survivors without a polymorphism, resulting in a Levene's Test approaching significance (p=.055). Likely the differences in variances are due to the small sample size, yet across all three core neurocognitive skills, survivors with a polymorphism had a larger range in performance. This leads us to speculate that with a larger sample we may be able to parse apart sub-groups of individuals with a GSTP1 polymorphism that are impaired at a higher rate than the rest of the survivors. While there were no significant differences in impairment between both survivor groups, none of the survivors without a polymorphism were impaired. Four of the survivors with a polymorphism, out of twelve, met criteria for impairment. This result suggests that a subset of the survivors with a polymorphism may be particularly vulnerable to genetic alterations that impact their efficiency with oxidization of chemotherapy agents and free radicals. Further analyses should be conducted to determine the demographic variables or additional genetic risk associated with this impaired sub-group.

While not a statistically significant difference (p=.095), there was a medium to large effect size for differences in working memory performance, suggesting that the survivors without a polymorphism had reduced capabilities at working memory tasks. Survivors without a polymorphism had a group mean performance of greater than 1.5 SD below the normative mean, suggesting that the group is impaired on average. This result is also contrary to our hypotheses; however, the difference between groups was not statistically significant, and five survivors with a polymorphism fell into the impaired range as well. One individual did not complete the ACT

during their neuropsychological testing; therefore, the group without a GSTP1 polymorphism only had five individuals. The group of survivors with a polymorphism were 2.4 times greater in size than those without a polymorphism; therefore, the differences in proportion of impairment should be interpreted with caution. The medium to large effect is likely inflated by how small the group size is for survivors without a polymorphism. The standard deviation for the survivors with a polymorphism was over three times the size of the standard deviation for survivors without a polymorphism, resulting in a significant Levene's Test (p=0.002). This increase in range and variability in performance for survivors with a polymorphism is similar to the trend seen with attention span. Notably, three of the four survivors with a polymorphism who were significantly impaired on attention span were also impaired on working memory.

The effect size was small to medium for the difference between groups on processing speed performance. In line with our hypothesis, the survivors with a polymorphism performed worse than survivors without a polymorphism, and their overall mean performance was greater than 1.5 SD below the normative mean (M = -1.87). However, the difference between impairment levels was not statistically significant, and four individuals without a polymorphism also met impairment criteria. The result that over half of both groups of survivors are impaired on this skill is consistent with the literature, as processing speed is the first of the neurocognitive skill difficulties for medulloblastoma survivors (Mabbott et al., 2008; Palmer et al., 2013). However, the sub-group of survivors with a polymorphism who have impaired performances on attention, working memory, and processing speed represent a vulnerable group, and additional risk factors may explain the variability in our sample.

Our results indicate that GSTP1 polymorphism status is not associated with statistically significant differences in mean performances on three core neurocognitive skills. However,

variability in performance, measured by Levene's test and standard deviations was robust for working memory and attention. A primary objective of this study was to understand additional biological mechanisms that may contribute to the variance in long-term cognitive outcomes that researchers observe in medulloblastoma survivors. While this pilot study was underpowered to isolate the genetic mechanisms underlying long-term cognitive functioning in a sample of medulloblastoma survivors, genes do not function independently. It is possible, particularly for studies with smaller sample sizes, that the additive effect of genes working within a network is needed to elucidate long-term deficits. Kamdar and colleagues have highlighted the additive effect of SNPs on attention and processing speed in 72 leukemia survivors. They assessed the impact folate path polymorphisms on cognition, and they found that the combined effect of multiple polymorphisms best-predicted individuals who are at risk for cognitive impairment (Kamdar et al., 2011). Survivors with over six risk alleles performed significantly worse on measures of attention and processing speed and often were clinically impaired (Kamdar et al., 2011). Beyond these analyses, it is important to consider polymorphisms on genes located within GST's pathway; such as HO-1, KEAP-1, and NRF2. The additive impact of KEAP-1 and NRF2 aiding in the growth of cancer cells while protecting cells from oxidative stress has been studied, but not along with GST polymorphisms (Ohta et al., 2008). While examining pathways of genes was not the focus of this pilot study, it is a crucial consideration for further understanding of the variance in outcomes for medulloblastoma survivors. Our sub-group of survivors with a polymorphism who were significantly impaired across multiple core neurocognitive skills may have additional genetic risk associated with other genes involved in responding to and eliminating agents of oxidative stress.

4.2 Discussion of Aim 2 Results

Our results are similar to recent studies that have found smaller hippocampal volumes in pediatric brain tumor survivors compared to typically developing children (Decker et al., 2017) and adults (Jayakar et al., 2015). Hippocampal volumetric differences between controls and long-term survivors have also been observed in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Monje et al., 2013; Zeller et al., 2013). Long-term volumetric differences are essential to track, as the hippocampus in typical controls continues to develop from childhood into early adulthood with hippocampal volume increasing in later childhood and early adolescence followed by a slight decrease in volume in young adulthood (Tamnes et al., 2018; Wierenga et al., 2014). In contrast, medulloblastoma survivors have significant volume loss in the hippocampus for the first two years after diagnosis and treatment before they shift to growth and volume increases (Nagel et al., 2004). Comparing subcortical structures in childhood survivors may capture this initial decrease, while long-term studies can demonstrate subcortical differences that persist. Jayakar and colleagues discovered that not only hippocampal volume of long-term pediatric brain tumor survivors was reduced compared to controls, but the bilateral putamen volume was less than controls with a medium effect size (Jayakar et al., 2015). In line with Jayakar's research, group differences were not specific to the hippocampus, and this may indicate the disruption to brain structure development is more global than specific. Research that focuses on specific structure and function relationships may underestimate the widespread loss of volume for brain tumor survivors with extensive treatment regimens. Therefore, this exemplifies the importance of a control sample and control region to ensure the effects are limited to the structure of interest.

Counter to our predictions, there was not a significant group difference between the survivor groups on volume of the bilateral hippocampus. The effect was small, but our results

show that survivors without a polymorphism have smaller mean hippocampal volumes than survivors with a polymorphism. There was also not a significant group difference between the survivor groups on volume of the bilateral putamen. The effect size was also small and in the opposite direction of the hippocampal results, as survivors with a polymorphism have smaller mean putamen volumes than survivors without a polymorphism. The survivors with a polymorphism group had twice the number of individuals compared to the survivors without a polymorphism, and given our small sample for imaging analyses, the mean volume differences between survivors should be considered with caution. Overall, survivor's bilateral hippocampal and putamen volumes were significantly smaller than controls supporting the research around abnormal development of these subcortical structures even after long-term recovery from treatment and subsequent maturation.

4.3 Discussion of Aim 3 Results

Our sample size was underpowered for multiple regression; however, given the theoretical background for the hypotheses, testing for an indirect effect within our sample was a worthy exploration to characterize the data. Since the direct effect between hippocampal volume and attention span performance was not significant, it was unlikely that deficits would be significantly moderated by GSTP1 polymorphism status. Ultimately, the moderation model was not significant. We encourage that this hypothesis is probed further in a larger sample of medulloblastoma survivors, as it is not indicative that this relationship is non-existent given limitations in sample size.

4.4 Discussion of Planned Supplementary Analysis 1

The primary purpose of this analysis was to ensure that our genomic positions of interest for GSTP1 (Chromosome 11: Position 67352689- 67353579) do not contain significant copy number variation. The removal of copy number gains and losses leads to higher-quality data and lends support to identified SNPs in whole-genome association studies (Korn et al., 2008). If our results had shown gains or losses that would diminish the support to the GSTP1 polymorphisms in our samples. However, with neutral copy number, our copy number visualizations lend confidence to our read depth and coverage for SNPs of interest. Instilling checks within a plan for analyses is critical when making decisions around personalized medicine and rehabilitation for survivors of pediatric brain tumors. Therefore, we can present our results with greater certainty, and for future studies, identify additional SNPs of interest to aggregate genetic risk and test possible associations

4.5 Discussion of Planned Supplementary Analysis 2

The aims of these supplementary analyses were to, first, examine if we could replicate the association between GST polymorphisms and IQ found by Barahmani and colleagues, and second, to examine if sex differences accounted for the variability, we saw in our survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism. Earlier we highlighted a group of survivors with GSTP1 polymorphisms who performed in the impaired range for working memory and attention span tasks, and we wished to assess if sex was associated with worse outcomes. Our key finding was a main effect of sex for overall full-scale IQ. Female survivors with a polymorphism represent a particularly vulnerable group with significantly worse full-scale IQ scores compared to females without a polymorphism. All survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism had significantly lower verbal IQ score than survivors without a GSTP1 polymorphism. Additionally, we found a very

large effect of females with a GSTP1 polymorphism performing significantly worse than females without a polymorphism, indicating that both genetic risk and sex interact and are associated with long-term verbal IQ. This vulnerability was not significant for performance IQ, although females with a GSTP1 polymorphism had the worst average performance of the four groups. Barahmani and colleagues studied the combined risk of either a null allele on GSTT1 or GSTM1, and our results highlight the risk of new polymorphisms within the GST family. Since GSTP1 polymorphisms produce higher levels of enzyme activity than the null genotypes, a null genotype may not be necessary for long-term deleterious consequences for intelligence, particularly verbal intelligence (Sun et al., 2010).

Long-term studies of pediatric brain tumor survivors have shown that female sex predicts more impairment on executive functioning tasks, processing speed performance, and adaptive functioning (Ellenberg et al., 2009; Panwala, in press). Additionally, female sex was related to significant drops in verbal IQ, three points per year, in a longitudinal study that tested medulloblastoma survivors over four years (Ris et al., 2001). Four years post-diagnosis is still relatively recent to treatment, and our study highlights the long-term vulnerability of the combined risk of GSTP1 polymorphisms and female sex.

The combined risk was further supported when we ran analyses of neurocognitive skills and separated groups by sex. For attention and processing speed, there was a trend of females with GSTP1 polymorphisms performing on average worse than the other three groups, males without a polymorphism, males with a polymorphism and females without a polymorphism. Additionally, for survivors with polymorphisms, the effect size was large for the difference in attention span performance between the sexes (g=.877). For processing speed, the effect size was very large (g=1.53), and there was a significant difference between survivors' performance with GSTP1 polymorphisms based on sex (p=.024). Also, there was a large effect size (g=1.18) for the difference in processing speed performance for females without a polymorphism and females with a polymorphism. Females with a polymorphism had a mean z-score falling far below the cut-off of impairment (M=-2.9), representing a particularly vulnerable and impaired group. Although the difference between females with a polymorphism and females without a polymorphism was not significant for working memory span, the effect size of the difference between males with the polymorphism and females with the polymorphism was large (g=1.12) and approached significance.

These results help demystify the large standard deviations in performance for the survivors with a polymorphism compared to the restricted range of the survivors without a polymorphism. Females with a polymorphism are obtaining the lowest scores, often in the impaired range, and males with a polymorphism are bringing up the group's average for processing speed, attention span and working memory span. Overall, sex differences between survivors with a GSTP1 polymorphism had large effect sizes for all three neurocognitive skills. The trends in our results appear to be consistent with the long-term neurodevelopmental model developed by King and colleagues, although they would need to be tested in a larger sample (King et al., 2019). King and colleagues did not find large sex-specific effects on neurocognitive skills, and it would be interesting to add genetic risk into the model as a risk factor interacting with sex. Our finding that sex differences are associated with genetic risk has been established in the literature for other neurological diseases and disorders. For example, in a large-scale genome-wide association study, sex-specific associations were found between female sex and the APOE $\varepsilon 4$ allele (Hohman et al., 2018). The APOE ɛ4 allele causes higher levels of cerebrospinal fluid tau and neurofibrillary tangles, the hallmarks of Alzheimer's diseases, and may modulate risk for

neurodegeneration. This sex-specific effect pinpoints a particularly vulnerable group, who experience impairment at higher rates, yet would not be noticed unless analyses were separated by sex. Similar to Hohman and colleagues, we were not able to explain the large standard deviations in our GSTP1 polymorphism group until we separated the groups by sex. Females with a GSTP1 polymorphism are experiencing impairment many years after diagnosis, rendering them particularly vulnerable to cognitive difficulties in adulthood. With replication, these results can be utilized to help clinicians and researchers in remediation plans of neurocognitive skills for females with genetic risk factors.

4.6 Limitations and Strengths

This study is novel for the field; and therefore, utilizes pilot study data which was intended to lay the groundwork for future studies with larger sample sizes. While our study was underpowered, a study including neuropsychological and genetic data for medulloblastoma survivors has been published in the field with a comparable sample size (n=21) (Barahmani et al., 2009). Additionally, given that genetic, neuroimaging and neuropsychological data were retrieved for this sample, the sample size is reasonable compared to neuroimaging studies of medical populations that analyze multiple domains of functioning (Davidson et al., 2000; Nolen et al., 2016). A strength of this study is that we utilized neuropsychological assessment instead of questionnaires to more accurately and precisely measure attentional performance impairment in the brain tumor survivor population. We increased the specificity of our study by assessing three core neurocognitive skills and utilizing a control region for our neuroimaging analyses.

assessment and neuroimaging to better capture impairment in our sample compared to same-age peers.

Since this design is cross-sectional, longitudinal studies are needed to fully understand how treatment and genetics influence brain structure and cognitive development for pediatric tumor survivors. This study may be susceptible to recruitment bias as survivors chose to participate. Survivors who are higher functioning may be more capable of participation in neuropsychological testing. On the other hand, survivors who are more impaired may be looking for clinical research studies to understand the long-term difficulties that they experience. Given that we conducted tests of data assumptions, this should not bias the study in one direction. The participants in this study received treatment over a decade ago which may call to question the generalizability of the findings. However, until we understand the mechanism of action between GST polymorphisms and the deleterious effects of chemoradiation, it is essential to measure the long-term cognitive outcomes of survivors. Since the neuro-oncology field allocates treatment and intervention resources based on risk, increased understanding of GSTP1 biomarkers, and their interaction with sex, can only improve the risk-adaptive care model (Gragert & Ris, 2011). Overall, sex-specific neurocognitive impairment that is associated with polymorphisms can be utilized as a benchmark for identifying risk to create individualized protocols and remediation plans for survivors of childhood brain tumors.

4.7 Conclusions and Further Directions

This study contributes to the gap in research on how GST polymorphisms influence longterm neurocognitive outcomes for pediatric medulloblastoma survivors. While the significant associations found in this study are underpowered, this pilot study lays the groundwork for future
investigation of sex-specific effects of GST polymorphisms and long-term neurocognitive outcomes. We found significant differences in attention span, working memory, processing speed, hippocampal and putamen volumes between survivors and controls. We did not establish specificity of hippocampal volume loss, and our sample may have more global subcortical morphological alterations, which will be important to replicate in a larger sample. The ENIGMA Cancer and Chemotherapy Working group, developed in 2017, investigates brain volume abnormalities that underlie cognitive impairment associated with cancer. However, to date, the group has only studied non-central nervous system cancer survivors (Shiroishi et al., 2018). With the development of this group and the collaboration of cancer researchers around the world, high-powered neuroimaging studies may elucidate the nature of morphometric abnormalities for medulloblastoma survivors.

We chose to look at one family of genes and focused our analyses on GSTP1 because of the prevalence of the two GSTP1 polymorphisms in our sample. However, looking at one gene family may not adequately isolate genetic risk. In a recent GWAS study, non-coding DNS regions, with unknown regulatory function, within the host genome have been associated with neurocognitive outcome in medulloblastoma survivors (Siegel, in press). Siegel and colleagues' results indicate that researchers need to look beyond individual gene families and consider the contributions of non-coding regions to genetic risk. Hohman and colleagues research on genetic risk for Alzheimer's disease supports the theory that a single marker analysis is not enough to understand the complex genetic makeup of disorders and epistatic relationships (Hohman et al., 2013). SNPs on the *APOE* gene have also been assessed in adult patients with brain tumors. Correa and colleagues utilized a backward selection regression analysis, which included a total of nine APOE SNPs, and found a significant association in their final model between seven SNPs and attention (Correa et al., 2014). Utilizing additive genomic risk factors may be useful for explaining variance in outcomes, yet it is also essential to isolate the demographic and treatment factors associated with each added SNP.

Due to the robust variance in performance for survivors with GSTP1 polymorphisms on measures of attention, working memory, and processing speed, we chose to examine sex as a demographic factor that may interact with genetic risk. We found large sex-specific effect sizes across all measures of neurocognitive skill performance, with females with a GSTP1 polymorphism performing significantly worse than other groups. Additionally, we replicated the results of Barahmani and colleagues for verbal IQ and found very large sex-specific effects for verbal IQ and full-scale IQ. Researchers should consider the role of sex when assessing for genetic risk, as this interaction has also been found in large-scale GWAS studies for APOE polymorphisms in Alzheimer's disease (Hohman et al., 2018). Females may have a specific vulnerability to genetic risk, and additional SNPs should be studied for sex-specific main effects and their association with cognitive outcomes. Our study highlights a group that may endure long-term cognitive problems, both with proximal and distal cognitive markers. Replication studies which would assess the impact of sex-specific polymorphisms can include the interaction between sex and polymorphism status as a risk factor in the current long-term neurodevelopmental model (King et al., 2019). As more groups cross-validate important biomarkers and identify genetic risk, these findings inform precision medicine and remediation plans for long-term medulloblastoma survivors

REFERENCES

- Adler, V., Yin, Z., Fuchs, S. Y., Benezra, M., Rosario, L., Tew, K. D., ... Ronai, Z. (1999).
 Regulation of JNK signaling by GSTp. *Embo j, 18*(5), 1321-1334.
 doi:10.1093/emboj/18.5.1321
- Ailion, A. S., Hortman, K., & King, T. Z. (2017). Childhood Brain Tumors: a Systematic Review of the Structural Neuroimaging Literature. *Neuropsychol Rev*, 27(3), 220-244. doi:10.1007/s11065-017-9352-6
- Ali-Osman, F., Brunner, J. M., Kutluk, T. M., & Hess, K. (1997). Prognostic significance of glutathione S-transferase pi expression and subcellular localization in human gliomas. *Clin Cancer Res, 3*(12 Pt 1), 2253-2261.
- Allan, J. M., Wild, C. P., Rollinson, S., Willett, E. V., Moorman, A. V., Dovey, G. J., . . .
 Morgan, G. J. (2001). Polymorphism in glutathione S-transferase P1 is associated with susceptibility to chemotherapy-induced leukemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98(20), 11592-11597. doi:10.1073/pnas.191211198
- Allan, J. M., Wild, C. P., Rollinson, S., Willett, E. V., Moorman, A. V., Dovey, G. J., . . . Morgan, G. J. (2001). Polymorphism in glutathione S-transferase P1 is associated with susceptibility to chemotherapy-induced leukemia. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 98(20), 11592-11597.
- Andrews, S. (2012). FastQC: A quality control application for high throughput sequence data. Babraham Institute Project page: <u>http://www</u>. bioinformatics. bbsrc. ac. uk/projects/fastqc.

Ashford, J., Schoffstall, C., Reddick, W. E., Leone, C., Laningham, F. H., Glass, J. O., . . .
Conklin, H. M. (2010). Attention and working memory abilities in children treated for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer*, *116*(19), 4638-4645. doi:10.1002/cncr.25343

Baddeley, A. (1992). Working memory. Science, 255(5044), 556-559.

- Barahmani, N., Carpentieri, S., Li, X.-N., Wang, T., Cao, Y., Howe, L., . . . Okcu, M. F. (2009).
 Glutathione S-transferase M1 and T1 polymorphisms may predict adverse effects after therapy in children with medulloblastoma. *Neuro-Oncology*, *11*(3), 292-300.
 doi:10.1215/15228517-2008-089
- Barahmani, N., Carpentieri, S., Li, X. N., Wang, T., Cao, Y., Howe, L., . . . Okcu, M. F. (2009).
 Glutathione S-transferase M1 and T1 polymorphisms may predict adverse effects after therapy in children with medulloblastoma. *Neuro Oncol, 11*(3), 292-300.
 doi:10.1215/15228517-2008-089
- Bartlett, F., Kortmann, R., & Saran, F. (2013). Medulloblastoma. *Clinical Oncology*, 25(1), 36-45. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clon.2012.09.008</u>
- Beebe, D. W., Ris, M. D., Armstrong, F. D., Fontanesi, J., Mulhern, R., Holmes, E., & Wisoff, J. H. (2005). Cognitive and Adaptive Outcome in Low-Grade Pediatric Cerebellar
 Astrocytomas: Evidence of Diminished Cognitive and Adaptive Functioning in National
 Collaborative Research Studies (CCG 9891/POG 9130). *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 23(22), 5198-5204. doi:10.1200/jco.2005.06.117
- Boeva, V., Popova, T., Bleakley, K., Chiche, P., Cappo, J., Schleiermacher, G., . . . Barillot, E.
 (2011). Control-FREEC: a tool for assessing copy number and allelic content using nextgeneration sequencing data. *Bioinformatics*, 28(3), 423-425.

- Bolger, A. M., Lohse, M., & Usadel, B. (2014). Trimmomatic: a flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data. *Bioinformatics*, *30*(15), 2114-2120.
- Brackett, J., Krull, K. R., Scheurer, M. E., Liu, W., Srivastava, D. K., Stovall, M., . . . Okcu, M.
 F. (2012). Antioxidant enzyme polymorphisms and neuropsychological outcomes in medulloblastoma survivors: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Neuro-Oncology*, *14*(8), 1018-1025. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nos123
- Brackett, J., Krull, K. R., Scheurer, M. E., Liu, W., Srivastava, D. K., Stovall, M., . . . Okcu, M.
 F. (2012). Antioxidant enzyme polymorphisms and neuropsychological outcomes in medulloblastoma survivors: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Neuro Oncol, 14*(8), 1018-1025. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nos123
- Briere, M. E., Scott, J. G., McNall-Knapp, R. Y., & Adams, R. L. (2008). Cognitive outcome in pediatric brain tumor survivors: delayed attention deficit at long-term follow-up. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*, 50(2), 337-340. doi:10.1002/pbc.21223
- Carén, H., Kryh, H., Nethander, M., Sjöberg, R.-M., Träger, C., Nilsson, S., . . . Martinsson, T. (2010). High-risk neuroblastoma tumors with 11q-deletion display a poor prognostic, chromosome instability phenotype with later onset. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(9), 4323-4328.
- Chatterjee, A., & Gupta, S. (2018). The multifaceted role of glutathione S-transferases in cancer. *Cancer Letters*, 433, 33-42. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.06.028</u>
- Choi, A. M., & Alam, J. (1996). Heme oxygenase-1: function, regulation, and implication of a novel stress-inducible protein in oxidant-induced lung injury. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 15(1), 9-19. doi:10.1165/ajrcmb.15.1.8679227

- Cole, P. D., Finkelstein, Y., Stevenson, K. E., Blonquist, T. M., Vijayanathan, V., Silverman, L. B., . . . Waber, D. P. (2015). Polymorphisms in Genes Related to Oxidative Stress Are Associated With Inferior Cognitive Function After Therapy for Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *J Clin Oncol, 33*(19), 2205-2211. doi:10.1200/jco.2014.59.0273
- Conklin, H. M., Ashford, J. M., Howarth, R. A., Merchant, T. E., Ogg, R. J., Santana, V. M., . . .
 Xiong, X. (2012). Working memory performance among childhood brain tumor
 survivors. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *18*(6), 996-1005.
- consortium, E. (2011). *Genome-wide association meta-analysis of hippocampal volume: results from the ENIGMA consortium.* Paper presented at the Organization for Human Brain Mapping Conference.
- Corp, I. (2015). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 23.0 Armonk, NY: IBM Corp Corp, I. (2016). IBM SPSS Statistics Version 24.0.
- Correa, D. D., Satagopan, J., Baser, R. E., Cheung, K., Richards, E., Lin, M., . . . Orlow, I.
 (2014). APOE polymorphisms and cognitive functions in patients with brain tumors.
 Neurology, 83(4), 320-327.
- Davidson, A., Tait, D., Payne, G., Hopewell, J., Leach, M., Watson, M., . . . Ashley, S. (2000).
 Magnetic resonance spectroscopy in the evaluation of neurotoxicity following cranial irradiation for childhood cancer. *The British journal of radiology*, *73*(868), 421-424.
- Decker, A. L., Szulc, K. U., Bouffet, E., Laughlin, S., Chakravarty, M. M., Skocic, J., . . .
 Mabbott, D. J. (2017). Smaller hippocampal subfield volumes predict verbal associative memory in pediatric brain tumor survivors. *Hippocampus*, 27(11), 1140-1154.

- Delis, D. C., Kramer, J.H., Kaplan, E., & Ober, B.A. (1994). *The California verbal learning test-Children's version*. Retrieved from San Antonio:
- Dennis, M., Francis, D. J., Cirino, P. T., Schachar, R., Barnes, M. A., & Fletcher, J. M. (2009).
 Why IQ is not a covariate in cognitive studies of neurodevelopmental disorders. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 15(3), 331-343. doi:10.1017/s1355617709090481
- Dennis, M., Spiegler, B., Obonsawin, M., Maria, B., Cowell, C., Hoffman, H., . . . Ehrlich, R. (1992). Brain tumors in children and adolescents—III. Effects of radiation and hormone status on intelligence and on working, associative and serial-order memory. *Neuropsychologia*, *30*(3), 257-275.
- Ellenberg, L., Liu, Q., Gioia, G., Yasui, Y., Packer, R. J., Mertens, A., . . . Armstrong, G. (2009).
 Neurocognitive status in long-term survivors of childhood CNS malignancies: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Neuropsychology*, 23(6), 705.

Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics: sage.

- Fischl, B. (2012). FreeSurfer. *NeuroImage*, 62(2), 774-781. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.021
- Garte, S., Gaspari, L., Alexandrie, A. K., Ambrosone, C., Autrup, H., Autrup, J. L., . . . Taioli, E.
 (2001). Metabolic gene polymorphism frequencies in control populations. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 10(12), 1239-1248.
- Gontkovsky, S. T., & Beatty, W. W. (2006). Practical methods for the clinical assessment of information processing speed. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, 116(11), 1317-1325.
- Goulden, K. J. (2006). Effect sizes for research: a broad practical approach. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 27(5), 419-420.

- Gragert, M. N., & Ris, M. D. (2011). Neuropsychological late effects and rehabilitation following pediatric brain tumor. *J Pediatr Rehabil Med*, 4(1), 47-58. doi:10.3233/prm-2011-0153
- Hayes, A. F. (2012). PROCESS: A versatile computational tool for observed variable mediation, moderation, and conditional process modeling. In: University of Kansas, KS.
- Hayes, J. D., & Pulford, D. J. (1995). The glutathione S-transferase supergene family: regulation of GST and the contribution of the isoenzymes to cancer chemoprotection and drug resistance. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol*, 30(6), 445-600. doi:10.3109/10409239509083491
- Hibar, D. P., Adams, H. H., Jahanshad, N., Chauhan, G., Stein, J. L., Hofer, E., . . . Ikram, M. K.
 (2017). Novel genetic loci associated with hippocampal volume. *Nature communications*, 8, 13624.
- Hohman, T. J., Dumitrescu, L., Barnes, L. L., Thambisetty, M., Beecham, G., Kunkle, B., . . .
 Mukherjee, S. (2018). Sex-specific association of apolipoprotein e with cerebrospinal fluid levels of tau. *JAMA neurology*, 75(8), 989-998.
- Hohman, T. J., Koran, M. E., Thornton-Wells, T., & Initiative, A. s. N. (2013). Epistatic genetic effects among Alzheimer's candidate genes. *PloS one*, 8(11), e80839.
- Hollman, A. L., Tchounwou, P. B., & Huang, H. C. (2016). The Association between Gene-Environment Interactions and Diseases Involving the Human GST Superfamily with SNP Variants. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, *13*(4), 379. doi:10.3390/ijerph13040379
- Horky, L. L., Gerbaudo, V. H., Zaitsev, A., Plesniak, W., Hainer, J., Govindarajulu, U., . . .
 Dietrich, J. (2014). Systemic chemotherapy decreases brain glucose metabolism. *Annals of clinical and translational neurology*, 1(10), 788-798.

- Hovestadt, V., Remke, M., Kool, M., Pietsch, T., Northcott, P. A., Fischer, R., . . . Reifenberger, G. (2013). Robust molecular subgrouping and copy-number profiling of medulloblastoma from small amounts of archival tumour material using high-density DNA methylation arrays. *Acta neuropathologica*, *125*(6), 913-916.
- Jayakar, R., King, T. Z., Morris, R., & Na, S. (2015). Hippocampal volume and auditory attention on a verbal memory task with adult survivors of pediatric brain tumor. *Neuropsychology*, 29(2), 303.
- Jiao, L., Bondy, M. L., Hassan, M. M., Chang, D. Z., Abbruzzese, J. L., Evans, D. B., . . . Li, D. (2007). Glutathione S-transferase gene polymorphisms and risk and survival of pancreatic cancer. *Cancer*, 109(5), 840-848. doi:doi:10.1002/cncr.22468
- Kamdar, K. Y., Krull, K. R., El-Zein, R. A., Brouwers, P., Potter, B. S., Harris, L. L., . . . Etzel,
 C. J. (2011). Folate pathway polymorphisms predict deficits in attention and processing speed after childhood leukemia therapy. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 57(3), 454-460.
- Kanehisa, M., Furumichi, M., Tanabe, M., Sato, Y., & Morishima, K. (2017). KEGG: new perspectives on genomes, pathways, diseases and drugs. *Nucleic Acids Res, 45*(D1), D353-d361. doi:10.1093/nar/gkw1092
- Kanehisa, M., & Goto, S. (2000). KEGG: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 28(1), 27-30.
- Kanehisa, M., Sato, Y., Kawashima, M., Furumichi, M., & Tanabe, M. (2016). KEGG as a reference resource for gene and protein annotation. *Nucleic Acids Res, 44*(D1), D457-462. doi:10.1093/nar/gkv1070

- Kieffer-Renaux, V., Bulteau, C., Grill, J., Kalifa, C., Viguier, D., & Jambaque, I. (2000). Patterns of neuropsychological deficits in children with medulloblastoma according to craniospatial irradiation doses. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, 42(11), 741-745.
- Kilburn, L., Okcu, M. F., Wang, T., Cao, Y., Renfro-Spelman, A., Aldape, K. D., ... Bondy, M. (2010). Glutathione S-transferase polymorphisms are associated with survival in anaplastic glioma patients. *Cancer*, *116*(9), 2242-2249. doi:10.1002/cncr.25006
- King, T. Z., Ailion, A. S., Fox, M. E., & Hufstetler, S. M. (2019). Neurodevelopmental model of long-term outcomes of adult survivors of childhood brain tumors. *Child Neuropsychology*, 25(1), 1-21.
- King, T. Z., & Na, S. (2016). Cumulative neurological factors associated with long-term outcomes in adult survivors of childhood brain tumors. *Child Neuropsychology*, 22(6), 748-760.
- King, T. Z., Na, S., & Mao, H. (2015). Neural underpinnings of working memory in adult survivors of childhood brain tumors. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 21(7), 494-505.
- Knight, S. J., Conklin, H. M., Palmer, S. L., Schreiber, J. E., Armstrong, C. L., Wallace, D., . . .
 Gajjar, A. (2014). Working memory abilities among children treated for medulloblastoma: parent report and child performance. *J Pediatr Psychol*, *39*(5), 501-511. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsu009
- Koboldt, D. C., Zhang, Q., Larson, D. E., Shen, D., McLellan, M. D., Lin, L., . . . Wilson, R. K. (2012). VarScan 2: somatic mutation and copy number alteration discovery in cancer by exome sequencing. *Genome research*.

- Korn, J. M., Kuruvilla, F. G., McCarroll, S. A., Wysoker, A., Nemesh, J., Cawley, S., . . .
 Darvishi, K. (2008). Integrated genotype calling and association analysis of SNPs, common copy number polymorphisms and rare CNVs. *Nature genetics*, 40(10), 1253.
- Krull, K. R., Bhojwani, D., Conklin, H. M., Pei, D., Cheng, C., Reddick, W. E., . . . Pui, C. H.
 (2013). Genetic mediators of neurocognitive outcomes in survivors of childhood acute
 lymphoblastic leukemia. *J Clin Oncol, 31*(17), 2182-2188. doi:10.1200/jco.2012.46.7944
- Laborde, E. (2010). Glutathione transferases as mediators of signaling pathways involved in cell proliferation and cell death. *Cell Death Differ*, *17*(9), 1373-1380.
 doi:10.1038/cdd.2010.80
- Lecomte, T., Landi, B., Beaune, P., Laurent-Puig, P., & Loriot, M. A. (2006). Glutathione Stransferase P1 polymorphism (Ile105Val) predicts cumulative neuropathy in patients receiving oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res, 12*(10), 3050-3056. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-05-2076
- Li, H., & Durbin, R. (2010). Fast and accurate long-read alignment with Burrows–Wheeler transform. *Bioinformatics*, *26*(5), 589-595.
- Li, H., Handsaker, B., Wysoker, A., Fennell, T., Ruan, J., Homer, N., . . . Durbin, R. (2009). The sequence alignment/map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics*, *25*(16), 2078-2079.
- Li, Q. K., Singh, A., Biswal, S., Askin, F., & Gabrielson, E. (2011). KEAP1 gene mutations and NRF2 activation are common in pulmonary papillary adenocarcinoma. *Journal of human genetics*, *56*(3), 230.
- Li, Y.-J., Oliveira, S. A., Xu, P., Martin, E. R., Stenger, J. E., Scherzer, C. R., ... Nance, M. A. (2003). Glutathione S-transferase omega-1 modifies age-at-onset of Alzheimer disease and Parkinson disease. *Human molecular genetics*, *12*(24), 3259-3267.

- Lo, H. W., & Ali-Osman, F. (2007). Genetic polymorphism and function of glutathione Stransferases in tumor drug resistance. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 7(4), 367-374. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2007.06.009
- London, S. J., Yuan, J. M., Chung, F. L., Gao, Y. T., Coetzee, G. A., Ross, R. K., & Yu, M. C. (2000). Isothiocyanates, glutathione S-transferase M1 and T1 polymorphisms, and lungcancer risk: a prospective study of men in Shanghai, China. *Lancet*, 356(9231), 724-729. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(00)02631-3
- Mabbott, D. J., Penkman, L., Witol, A., Strother, D., & Bouffet, E. (2008). Core neurocognitive functions in children treated for posterior fossa tumors. *Neuropsychology*, 22(2), 159-168. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.22.2.159
- Mabbott, D. J., Penkman, L., Witol, A., Strother, D., & Bouffet, E. (2008). Core neurocognitive functions in children treated for posterior fossa tumors. *Neuropsychology*, *22*(2), 159.
- Mabbott, D. J., Spiegler, B. J., Greenberg, M. L., Rutka, J. T., Hyder, D. J., & Bouffet, E. (2005).
 Serial evaluation of academic and behavioral outcome after treatment with cranial radiation in childhood. *J Clin Oncol*, 23(10), 2256-2263. doi:10.1200/jco.2005.01.158
- MacArthur, J., Bowler, E., Cerezo, M., Gil, L., Hall, P., Hastings, E., . . . Morales, J. (2016). The new NHGRI-EBI Catalog of published genome-wide association studies (GWAS Catalog). *Nucleic acids research*, 45(D1), D896-D901.
- Maddrey, A. M., Bergeron, J. A., Lombardo, E. R., McDonald, N. K., Mulne, A. F., Barenberg,
 P. D., & Bowers, D. C. (2005). Neuropsychological performance and quality of life of 10
 year survivors of childhood medulloblastoma. *J Neurooncol*, 72(3), 245-253.
 doi:10.1007/s11060-004-3009-z

- McCurdy, M. D., Rane, S., Daly, B. P., & Jacobson, L. A. (2016). Associations among treatment-related neurological risk factors and neuropsychological functioning in survivors of childhood brain tumor. *Journal of neuro-oncology*, 127(1), 137-144.
- Micklewright, J. L., King, T. Z., Morris, R. D., & Krawiecki, N. (2008). Quantifying pediatric neuro-oncology risk factors: development of the neurological predictor scale. *J Child Neurol*, 23(4), 455-458. doi:10.1177/0883073807309241
- Mitby, P. A., Robison, L. L., Whitton, J. A., Zevon, M. A., Gibbs, I. C., Tersak, J. M., . . .
 Mertens, A. C. (2003). Utilization of special education services and educational attainment among long-term survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Cancer*, 97(4), 1115-1126. doi:10.1002/cncr.11117
- Mitby, P. A., Robison, L. L., Whitton, J. A., Zevon, M. A., Gibbs, I. C., Tersak, J. M., . . .
 Mertens, A. C. (2003). Utilization of special education services and educational attainment among long-term survivors of childhood cancer. *Cancer*, 97(4), 1115-1126.
- Monje, M., Thomason, M. E., Rigolo, L., Wang, Y., Waber, D. P., Sallan, S. E., & Golby, A. J. (2013). Functional and structural differences in the hippocampus associated with memory deficits in adult survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 60(2), 293-300.
- Monje, M. L., Vogel, H., Masek, M., Ligon, K. L., Fisher, P. G., & Palmer, T. D. (2007).
 Impaired human hippocampal neurogenesis after treatment for central nervous system malignancies. *Ann Neurol*, 62(5), 515-520. doi:10.1002/ana.21214
- Moore, I. I. B. D. (2005). Neurocognitive Outcomes in Survivors of Childhood Cancer. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *30*(1), 51-63. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsi016

- Mulhern, R. K., Hancock, J., Fairclough, D., & Kun, L. (1992). Neuropsychological status of children treated for brain tumors: a critical review and integrative analysis. *Med Pediatr Oncol*, 20(3), 181-191.
- Mulhern, R. K., Merchant, T. E., Gajjar, A., Reddick, W. E., & Kun, L. E. (2004). Late neurocognitive sequelae in survivors of brain tumours in childhood. *Lancet Oncol*, 5(7), 399-408. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(04)01507-4
- Mulhern, R. K., Palmer, S. L., Merchant, T. E., Wallace, D., Kocak, M., Brouwers, P., . . .
 Ashley, D. M. (2005). Neurocognitive consequences of risk-adapted therapy for childhood medulloblastoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 23(24), 5511-5519.
- Mulhern, R. K., White, H. A., Glass, J. O., Kun, L. E., Leigh, L., Thompson, S. J., & Reddick, W. E. (2004). Attentional functioning and white matter integrity among survivors of malignant brain tumors of childhood. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, *10*(2), 180-189. doi:10.1017/s135561770410204x
- Nagel, B. J., Palmer, S. L., Reddick, W. E., Glass, J. O., Helton, K. J., Wu, S., . . . Mulhern, R.
 K. (2004). Abnormal hippocampal development in children with medulloblastoma treated with risk-adapted irradiation. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 25(9), 1575-1582.
- Nolen, S. C., Lee, B., Shantharam, S., Hon, J. Y., Su, L., Billimek, J., & Bota, D. A. (2016). The effects of sequential treatments on hippocampal volumes in malignant glioma patients. *Journal of neuro-oncology*, 129(3), 433-441.
- Northcott, P. A., Korshunov, A., Witt, H., Hielscher, T., Eberhart, C. G., Mack, S., . . . French, P. (2011). Medulloblastoma comprises four distinct molecular variants. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 29(11), 1408.

- Oguztuzun, S., Abu-Hijleh, A., Coban, T., Bulbul, D., Kilic, M., Iscan, M., & Iscan, M. (2011). GST isoenzymes in matched normal and neoplastic breast tissue. *Neoplasma*, 58(4), 304-310.
- Ohta, T., Iijima, K., Miyamoto, M., Nakahara, I., Tanaka, H., Ohtsuji, M., . . . Hirohashi, S. (2008). Loss of Keap1 function activates Nrf2 and provides advantages for lung cancer cell growth. *Cancer Res*, 68(5), 1303-1309. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.Can-07-5003
- Okcu, M. F., Selvan, M., Wang, L. E., Stout, L., Erana, R., Airewele, G., . . . Bondy, M. (2004). Glutathione S-transferase polymorphisms and survival in primary malignant glioma. *Clin Cancer Res*, 10(8), 2618-2625.
- Olgun, Y., Aktas, S., Altun, Z., Kirkim, G., Kizmazoglu, D. C., Ercetin, A. P., . . . Guneri, E. A. (2016). Analysis of genetic and non genetic risk factors for cisplatin ototoxicity in pediatric patients. *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol, 90*, 64-69. doi:10.1016/j.ijporl.2016.09.001
- Palmer, S. L. (2008). Neurodevelopmental impact on children treated for medulloblastoma: a review and proposed conceptual model. *Developmental disabilities research reviews*, 14(3), 203-210.
- Palmer, S. L., Armstrong, C., Onar-Thomas, A., Wu, S., Wallace, D., Bonner, M. J., . . .
 Mabbott, D. (2013). Processing speed, attention, and working memory after treatment for medulloblastoma: an international, prospective, and longitudinal study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *31*(28), 3494.
- Palmer, S. L., Armstrong, C., Onar-Thomas, A., Wu, S., Wallace, D., Bonner, M. J., . . . Gajjar,A. (2013). Processing speed, attention, and working memory after treatment for

medulloblastoma: an international, prospective, and longitudinal study. *J Clin Oncol, 31*(28), 3494-3500. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.47.4775

- Palmer, S. L., & Leigh, L. (2009). Survivors of pediatric posterior fossa tumors: cognitive outcome, intervention, and risk-based care. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 13(3), 171-178.
- Paniak, C., Miller, H. B., Murphy, D., Andrews, A., & Flynn, J. (1997). Consonant trigrams test for children: Development and norms. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 11(2), 198-200. doi:10.1080/13854049708407051
- Panwala. (in press). The Effects of Radiation and Sex Differences on Adaptive Functioning in Adult Survivors of Pediatric Posterior Fossa Brain Tumor Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 1-11. doi:10.1017/S135561771900033X
- Paulhus, D. L., Harms, P. D., Bruce, M. N., & Lysy, D. C. (2003). The over-claiming technique: Measuring self-enhancement independent of ability. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 84(4), 890.
- Pfister, S., Remke, M., Benner, A., Mendrzyk, F., Toedt, G., Felsberg, J., . . . Joos, S. (2009).
 Outcome prediction in pediatric medulloblastoma based on DNA copy-number aberrations of chromosomes 6q and 17q and the MYC and MYCN loci. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(10), 1627-1636.
- Pinkel, D., Segraves, R., Sudar, D., Clark, S., Poole, I., Kowbel, D., . . . Zhai, Y. (1998). High resolution analysis of DNA copy number variation using comparative genomic hybridization to microarrays. *Nature genetics*, 20(2), 207.
- Reddick, W. E., White, H. A., Glass, J. O., Wheeler, G. C., Thompson, S. J., Gajjar, A., . . . Mulhern, R. K. (2003). Developmental model relating white matter volume to

neurocognitive deficits in pediatric brain tumor survivors. *Cancer*, 97(10), 2512-2519. doi:10.1002/cncr.11355

- Rednam, S., Scheurer, M. E., Adesina, A., Lau, C. C., & Okcu, M. F. (2013). Glutathione Stransferase P1 single nucleotide polymorphism predicts permanent ototoxicity in children with medulloblastoma. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*, 60(4), 593-598. doi:10.1002/pbc.24366
- Reeves, C. B., Palmer, S. L., Reddick, W. E., Merchant, T. E., Buchanan, G. M., Gajjar, A., & Mulhern, R. K. (2006). Attention and Memory Functioning Among Pediatric Patients with Medulloblastoma. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *31*(3), 272-280. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsj019
- Ribi, K., Relly, C., Landolt, M., Alber, F., Boltshauser, E., & Grotzer, M. (2005). Outcome of medulloblastoma in children: long-term complications and quality of life. *Neuropediatrics*, 36(06), 357-365.
- Riggs, L., Bouffet, E., Laughlin, S., Laperriere, N., Liu, F., Skocic, J., . . . Strother, D. (2014).
 Changes to memory structures in children treated for posterior fossa tumors. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 20(2), 168-180.
- Ris, M. D., & Noll, R. B. (1994). Long-term neurobehavioral outcome in pediatric brain-tumor patients: review and methodological critique. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 16(1), 21-42. doi:10.1080/01688639408402615
- Ris, M. D., Packer, R., Goldwein, J., Jones-Wallace, D., & Boyett, J. M. (2001). Intellectual outcome after reduced-dose radiation therapy plus adjuvant chemotherapy for medulloblastoma: a Children's Cancer Group study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 19(15), 3470-3476.

- Robinson, J. T., Thorvaldsdóttir, H., Winckler, W., Guttman, M., Lander, E. S., Getz, G., & Mesirov, J. P. (2011). Integrative genomics viewer. *Nature biotechnology*, 29(1), 24.
- Rood, B. R., Macdonald, T. J., & Packer, R. J. (2004). Current treatment of medulloblastoma: recent advances and future challenges. *Semin Oncol*, *31*(5), 666-675.
- Rosenthal, E. N., Riccio, C. A., Gsanger, K. M., & Jarratt, K. P. (2006). Digit Span components as predictors of attention problems and executive functioning in children. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 21(2), 131-139. doi:10.1016/j.acn.2005.08.004

S. Kaufman, A., & O. Lichtenberger, E. (2009). Essentials of WAIS-IV assessment.

- Seibert, T. M., Karunamuni, R., Bartsch, H., Kaifi, S., Krishnan, A. P., Dalia, Y., . . . Hattangadi-Gluth, J. A. (2017). Radiation Dose-Dependent Hippocampal Atrophy Detected With Longitudinal Volumetric Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 97(2), 263-269. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2016.10.035
- Shibata, T., Kokubu, A., Gotoh, M., Ojima, H., Ohta, T., Yamamoto, M., & Hirohashi, S. (2008). Genetic alteration of Keap1 confers constitutive Nrf2 activation and resistance to chemotherapy in gallbladder cancer. *Gastroenterology*, 135(4), 1358-1368. e1354.
- Shiroishi, M., Gupta, V., Faskowitz, J., Bigjahan, B., Cen, S., Rashid, F., . . . Liu, C.-S. J. (2018). The ENIGMA Cancer and Chemotherapy Working Group and Cancer-Related Cognitive Impairment (P6. 171). In: AAN Enterprises.
- Shura, R. D., Rowland, J. A., & Miskey, H. M. (2015). Auditory consonant trigrams: A psychometric update. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, *31*(1), 47-57.
- Siegel. (in press). Host Genome Variation is Associated with Neurocognitive Outcome in Survivors of Pediatric Medulloblastoma *Translational Oncology*, *12*(7), pp. 908-909.

- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., & Jemal, A. (2017). Cancer Statistics, 2017. *CA Cancer J Clin*, 67(1), 7-30. doi:10.3322/caac.21387
- Smith, A. (1982). *Symbol digit modalities test*: Western Psychological Services Los Angeles, CA.
- Spiegler, B. J., Bouffet, E., Greenberg, M. L., Rutka, J. T., & Mabbott, D. J. (2004). Change in neurocognitive functioning after treatment with cranial radiation in childhood. *J Clin Oncol*, 22(4), 706-713. doi:10.1200/jco.2004.05.186
- Stargatt, R., Rosenfeld, J. V., Maixner, W., & Ashley, D. (2007). Multiple factors contribute to neuropsychological outcome in children with posterior fossa tumors. *Developmental neuropsychology*, 32(2), 729-748.
- Strauss, E., Sherman, E. M., & Spreen, O. (2006). A compendium of neuropsychological tests.In: New York: Oxford University Press.
- Stuss, D., Stethem, L., & Poirier, C. (1987). Comparison of three tests of attention and rapid information processing across six age groups. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 1(2), 139-152.
- Sun, N., Sun, X., Chen, B., Cheng, H., Feng, J., Cheng, L., & Lu, Z. (2010). MRP2 and GSTP1 polymorphisms and chemotherapy response in advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 65(3), 437-446. doi:10.1007/s00280-009-1046-1
- Sweeney, C., McClure, G. Y., Fares, M. Y., Stone, A., Coles, B. F., Thompson, P. A., . . . Ambrosone, C. B. (2000). Association between survival after treatment for breast cancer and glutathione S-transferase P1 Ile105Val polymorphism. *Cancer Res, 60*(20), 5621-5624.

- Tamnes, C. K., Bos, M. G., van de Kamp, F. C., Peters, S., & Crone, E. A. (2018). Longitudinal development of hippocampal subregions from childhood to adulthood. *Developmental cognitive neuroscience*, 30, 212-222.
- The Genomes Project, C. (2015). A global reference for human genetic variation. *Nature*, *526*, 68. doi:10.1038/nature15393

https://www.nature.com/articles/nature15393#supplementary-information

- Tidefelt, U., Elmhorn-Rosenborg, A., Paul, C., Hao, X. Y., Mannervik, B., & Eriksson, L. C.
 (1992). Expression of glutathione transferase pi as a predictor for treatment results at
 different stages of acute nonlymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Res*, 52(12), 3281-3285.
- Turner, A. D., Furey, M. L., Drevets, W. C., Zarate, C., Jr., & Nugent, A. C. (2012). Association between subcortical volumes and verbal memory in unmedicated depressed patients and healthy controls. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(9), 2348-2355. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.06.003
- Wang, K., Li, M., & Hakonarson, H. (2010). ANNOVAR: functional annotation of genetic variants from high-throughput sequencing data. *Nucleic acids research*, 38(16), e164e164.
- Wang, X., Elston, R. C., & Zhu, X. (2010). The meaning of interaction. *Human heredity*, 70(4), 269-277.
- Wierenga, L., Langen, M., Ambrosino, S., van Dijk, S., Oranje, B., & Durston, S. (2014).Typical development of basal ganglia, hippocampus, amygdala and cerebellum from age 7 to 24. *Neuroimage*, *96*, 67-72.

- Wolfe, K. R., Madan-Swain, A., & Kana, R. K. (2012). Executive dysfunction in pediatric posterior fossa tumor survivors: A systematic literature review of neurocognitive deficits and interventions. *Developmental neuropsychology*, 37(2), 153-175.
- Yamadori, T., Ishii, Y., Homma, S., Morishima, Y., Kurishima, K., Itoh, K., . . . Hizawa, N.
 (2012). Molecular mechanisms for the regulation of Nrf2-mediated cell proliferation in non-small-cell lung cancers. *Oncogene*, *31*(45), 4768-4777. doi:10.1038/onc.2011.628
- Yin, Z., Ivanov, V. N., Habelhah, H., Tew, K., & Ronai, Z. (2000). Glutathione S-transferase p elicits protection against H2O2-induced cell death via coordinated regulation of stress kinases. *Cancer Res*, 60(15), 4053-4057.
- Zeller, B., Tamnes, C. K., Kanellopoulos, A., Amlien, I. K., Andersson, S., Due-Tønnessen, P., .
 . . Ruud, E. (2013). Reduced neuroanatomic volumes in long-term survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *31*(17), 2078-2085.

APPENDIX

R Script:

total <- merge(RSIDNEW_Sheet1,SNP_X, by="POS", all.x=TRUE, sort=FALSE)
write.csv(total, "practice_data.csv")</pre>